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INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIR AND ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
Welcome to the Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 for NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG), which demonstrates our continued progress in realising our vision of ‘supporting people in
Dorset to lead healthier lives'.
This year has seen us complete all the national processes for assuring the Clinical Services Review is
robust. We continued to engage with local people and organisations on our plans to transform
healthcare throughout the whole county, we have valued the interest and comments we have
received from the public, clinicians and staff. In May 2016, the CCG Governing Body approved
recommendations for the model of care for acute hospital services, the site specific options for acute
hospital services and the out of hospital approach (now called the Integrated Community and
Primary Care Services programme). We were pleased to go to public consultation on these
proposals from 1 December 2016. More information on the public consultation can be found on
page 38.
On a personal note, and recognising that it has again been another busy year for all providers of
services, we would like to take this opportunity to thank all those people working both for us, and
with us, for their continued dedication and support over the last twelve months.
We would also like to thank our 94 GP practices who constitute the membership of our organisation
for their continued support.
As with everything we do, your voice is vital and we actively encourage you to get involved. By
joining our Health Involvement Network you can keep up to date, get more involved with our work
and have your say on future developments in the health community. More information on this can
be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk or at the end of this report.
Thank you for reading our report - we hope you find it informative and interesting.

Dr Forbes Watson
Chair
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
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Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
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Over the last twelve months we have seen many achievements but have also faced some challenges.
This section of the report will provide you with an overview of our CCG, its main objectives, strategy
and performance and principal risks in-year.
ABOUT US
We are a clinically led organisation made up of 94 GP practices who took over the responsibility for
commissioning health services on 1 April 2013.
This means that we are responsible for discharging a range of duties on behalf of patients in line
with the NHS Act 2006. We confirmed we have discharged our duties and complied with the
statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), as required by the
CCG’s Assurance Framework, including:
•
•
•

reducing health inequalities;
improving the quality of services we commission;
involving patients and the public in shaping health services.

In doing this we ensure we act effectively, efficiently and economically by delegating responsibility
for making decisions to our Governing Body. Our Audit and Quality Committee monitors the controls
in place to ensure we provide value for money.
OUR CONSTITUTION
A formal document, called a Constitution, sets out the arrangements the CCG has made to ensure it
meets its responsibilities for commissioning high quality services for the people of Dorset.
It describes the governing principles, rules and procedures which will ensure integrity, honesty and
accountability. Also, it commits the CCG to taking decisions in an open and transparent way and
places the interests of patients and public at its heart.
We last refreshed our Constitution during 2015/16 to reflect the new commissioning responsibilities
for the delegated commissioning of primary care.
Our Constitution can be downloaded at: http://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/how-we-work.htm
THE POPULATION WE SERVE
By 2023, the population of Dorset will have increased from around 750,000 to over 800,000, with
much of the growth happening among older people. Increased longevity brings new challenges to
health and care systems, because as we grow older more of us develop long-term conditions such as
diabetes and dementia.
People in Dorset generally live healthier and longer lives compared to the average for England, but
this is not evenly spread across our population – the data reveals unacceptable inequalities between
different groups. We must reduce the gap between the health of the poorest and richest. There is a
particularly wide health gap for men living in Bournemouth, where those living in more prosperous
areas can expect to live for 11 years longer than those living in the most deprived areas. Whilst there
2
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has been no change in the numbers of people who die early from heart disease in Poole and rural
Dorset in the last five years, there has been a rise in Bournemouth at a time when numbers are
falling nationally. We think this variation is unacceptable.
Many factors play a part in creating this gap. The prosperity of an area is one factor. Lifestyle factors
are another big reason why people may have more ill health. Based on current trends, obesity will
become an even more widespread problem by 2020, by which time we think one in ten local people
could have diabetes and one in eight could have heart disease.
There is a difference of up to 20 years in the life expectancy of people with mental health problems.
We want everyone in Dorset to receive the same high quality of care, regardless of where they live,
what health condition they have, or any other personal characteristic. We also know that people
who act as carers are at high risk of experiencing worse health outcomes, having their employment
or education disrupted and becoming socially isolated, which in turn impacts on their role as a carer.
Further information on health profile indicators for 2015 can be found on Public Health Dorset
website.
OUR PROVIDERS
We commission (buy) services from a range of providers including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust;
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust;
Yeovil District Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust;
General Practices;
Third sector – which are non-governmental and non-profit-making organisations or associations,
including charities and voluntary agencies;
• Independent sector care homes and hospitals.
OUR HEADQUARTERS
Our headquarters are based at Vespasian House, Dorchester with additional office accommodation
at Canford House, Poole.
HOW WE WORK
Our member practices are at the heart of our communities and in a good position to understand the
needs of their populations. Each of our 13 localities has a GP Locality Lead who is also a member of
the Governing Body.
Our member practices can influence and inform decisions and provide feedback, so that we do not
lose the local focus amongst the national and wider Dorset priorities. It also enables us to ensure the
voice of patients and public can inform and influence decisions by feeding into their practice, the
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local Health Involvement Network and the Patient Participation Groups operating at each GP
practice.
We are one of a number of CCGs who have internal commissioning support services with five
directorates each of which is led by an Executive Director who is accountable to the Accountable
Officer, Tim Goodson.
The Directorates are led by:
•
•
•
•
•

Phil Richardson, Director of Design and Transformation;
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development;
Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer and Director of Finance and Performance;
Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality;
Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery.

‘OUR DORSET’ – SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PLAN
In 2014, NHS England published the Five Year Forward View to provide a clear picture of the scale of
change that local health and care systems need to deliver by 2020/21. All local systems in England
were required to create a Sustainability and Transformation Plan. ‘Our Dorset’ is our Sustainability
and Transformation Plan (STP) and sets out how we will address national, local as well as short and
longer-term challenges.
Our plan sets out how we will achieve our vision over the next five years. We took a ‘whole system’
approach with our partners to address issues that impact on people’s well-being and the
development of health inequalities. We also used a ‘needs based’ approach to identify categories of
need that reflect how children and adults' requirement for health and care varies over the course of
their lives.
We identified three programmes of work that are already underway, which we will continue to
develop and accelerate to enable us to realise our vision for health and care in Dorset over the next
five years. Each programme contributes individually and collectively to close the gaps we have
identified as health and wellbeing, care and quality, and finance and efficiency, to produce a truly
integrated system that meets the needs of all our population. There is already a great deal of
exciting work going on within these areas that we can learn from and build on. Our programmes
are:
• our Prevention at Scale programme will help people to stay healthy and avoid getting unwell;
• our Integrated Community and Primary Care Services programme will support individuals who
are unwell, by providing high quality care at home and in community settings;
• our One Acute Network programme will help those who need the most specialist health and care
support, through a single acute care system across the whole county;
Further information on the above programmes can be found on pages 19 to 28.
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To realise these ambitions we have two fundamental enabling programmes:
• our Leading and Working Differently programme focuses on giving the health and care
leadership and workforce the skills and expertise needed to deliver new models of care in an
integrated health and care system;
• our Digitally-Enabled Dorset programme will harness the power of technology and support
digital innovation across the health and care system, to support new approaches to service
delivery.
Further information on these enabling programmes can be found on pages 26 to 27.
REVIEW OF 2016/17: STATEMENT FROM ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER ON PERFORMANCE
The following section of the Performance Report provides the view of our Accountable Officer, Tim
Goodson and a summary of our performance during 2016/17.
We have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working across our
health and care system, acting as one integrated health and care system. This has enabled us to
work together as the Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) footprint and to develop
‘Our Dorset’ STP (page 4) and puts us in a good position to deliver it.
2016/17 has seen us achieve a great deal but we recognise that there are some elements that have
not gone so well and where we could have done better.
The main positives that have come out of this year are:
• the mental health acute pathway review and the public consultation. This was undertaken to
improve services for people who experience serious mental illness, and for those who at times,
may be in need of crisis/acute mental health care;
• completing the public consultation of the clinical services review to take forward the proposals
on integrated care services and acute and models of care for acute hospital services;
• development of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan with system-wide working, and the
establishment of the System Leadership Team, which comprises of representatives of all NHS
organisations and local authorities within Dorset.
There have been a number of challenges for the CCG in the 2016/17, including:
• a financially challenging year;
• increased system demands.
It’s been a demanding year for our providers in Dorset who have faced both financial and workforce
challenges. We recognise that with these challenges facing the health and care system we will need
to proactively engage and communicate with all our stakeholders and members as they endeavour
to work with the difficult decisions the CCG has to make over the coming years.
We have faced demands on services, in particular A&E, cancer waits and referral to treatment
targets and have worked closely with our providers and local authorities to manage the system-wide
challenges.
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NHS England has introduced a new Improvement and Assessment Framework for CCGs (CCG IAF)
from 2016/17 onwards. The new framework covers indicators located in four domains, which are:
•
•
•
•

better health;
better care;
sustainability;
leadership.

We have published more information against these indicators on our website. Comparison against
other Clinical Commissioning Groups can be found on the MyNHS website.
WORKING WITH PARTNERS AND INTEGRATION
We already have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working across
our health and care organisations, so that we act as one integrated health and care system. The last
two years have seen increasingly effective partnership working between our GPs and primary care
teams, the three local district general hospitals, our community and mental health service provider,
the ambulance service, Dorset’s three local authorities, patient representatives and many others. It
is this approach that has enabled us to be ambitious and produce plans of scale such as ‘Our Dorset’
(STP).
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
We have developed a Governing Body Assurance Framework to ensure that there is a streamlined
approach to assurance enabling the Governing Body and delegated committees to focus only on the
strategic risks of the organisation.
This is supported by the Corporate Risk Register (see page 61) which documents all strategic and
operational risks of the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance
Framework are reported regularly to the Governing Body, Audit and Quality Committee, Quality
Group and the Directors’ performance meeting.
We will face an increasingly challenging year in 2017/18 as the NHS continues to operate within a
tight financial framework during a period of further change and movement towards greater
integration with social care.
We are committed to minimising risks to which we are exposed, strategically and corporately. The
overriding aim is to reduce the potential for loss of services due to adverse events, financial
management or performance and quality management of commissioned services that could
ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.
Our risks and uncertainties should be viewed against a back drop of a rising number of older people
in the local population, health inequalities and a significant number of people living with long term
conditions. Key risks identified are:
• organisational self-interest – ineffective partnership working resulting in ineffective integration of
services;
• failure to deliver control total NHS providers sustainability – impacting on service delivery and
implementation of service changes;
• diminished cash reserves impacts on ability to pay core function on time;
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• impact on NHS providers, particularly secondary care in transferring money to the Better Care
Fund, and diverting from front line NHS services;
• increase in secondary care referrals;
• public, patient, stakeholder challenge and judicial review;
• urgent care/A&E pressures impacting on system sustainability, discharge and patient care.
FUTURE PLANS
During 2017/18 we will be focusing on the national Five Year Forward View standards and also have
local corporate objectives which are:
• Clinical Services Review acute reconfiguration - decision and implementation. Governing Body
decision due in September 2017 (based on current plan) through the production of Governing
Body approved Clinical Services Review implementation plan.
• Clinical Services Review integrated community and primary care services - decision and
implementation. Governing Body decision due in September 2017 (based on current plan)
through the production of Governing Body approved Clinical Services Review implementation
plan.
• Mental Health Acute Care Pathway - decision and implementation. Governing Body decision due
in September 2017 (based on current plan) through the production of Governing Body approved
Clinical Services Review implementation plan.
• Primary Care Commissioning Strategy – progress years 1 and 2 of the GP Five Year Forward View
with a focus on co-production of local plans (blueprints) to improve health in partnership with
local communities, health, social and voluntary organisations, implementation of local
transformation programme so that populations are receiving GP services from practices who are
part of a collaboration, working at scale, Phase 1 implementation of the estates and technologies
transformation plan. Commence planning to provide additional consultations capacity per 1,000
population including online consultations.
• system structures: delivery of the CCG/commissioning strategic remit including developing CCG
strategy which includes a refresh and update of Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP),
operational, delivery and transformation plans and timeline, ensuring portfolio/programme
systems are in place and operational with supporting system structures.
• financial sustainability: to ensure continued system financial sustainability through regularly
reporting financial position of Dorset CCG and provider Foundation Trusts, monitoring the
achievement of cost improvement and quality improvement plans and the cash flows of CCG and
Dorset providers.
• Digital Dorset: ensure the delivery of the Digital Care Record in line with the STP, encompassing
an approved digital strategy, GP estate transformation, collaboration platforms, virtual reality
deployments for dementia diagnosis and anxiety management, and engagement online systems
for primary care.
• leading and working differently: following endorsement of the "leading and working differently"
strategy, work collaboratively with all system partners to deliver the agreed implementation plan
addressing; development of our leaders, recruitment and retention of our staff, developing our
staff, and supporting staff through change. Seek system level deployment.
• prevention at system wide level: accelerating the delivery of the prevention at scale tier using
digital innovation with a focus on activity, schools engagement and behaviour change for a
healthier lifestyle.
• continuing healthcare (CHC): Maintain good performance of the CHC team and processes
by ensuring; high quality assessments of people who may be eligible for CHC funding and
high quality care provided for patients in receipt of CHC. Patients are offered personal health
7
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budgets and these are applied appropriately. Ensure effective management of budget and
quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP). Work collaboratively with the local
authorities to maximise benefits of integration. Ensure all previously unassessed periods of
care (PUPOC) cases are dealt with appropriately within required timescale. Reduce
complaints and increase patient satisfaction.
• Patient and public engagement: Enhance patient and public engagement. Supporting the postCSR consultation phase with a continuing programme of system and locality based engagement;
providing design and implementation expertise that initiate an STP level public and patient
engagement approach based on principles endorsed by System Leadership Team; working with
primary care locality teams to deploy practice based Patient and Public Group coordination;
continue to create innovative communications and social media approaches to enhance public
engagement.
Details of our priorities for 2017/18 can be seen in our Annual Operational Plan which can be found
on our website.
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
The following section of the Performance Overview provides information on our key achievements
during 2016/17 and how we have met our statutory duties.
NHS CONSTITUTION STANDARDS
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
The following section of the Performance Overview provides information on our key achievements
during 2016/17 and how we have met our statutory duties.
NHS CONSTITUTION STANDARDS
Our performance against the NHS Constitution standards and Quality Premiums are set out in the
following section. The red/amber/green rating assessment indicated in the below shows our
performance in relation to NHS Constitution standards for the year ending 2016/17.
Table 1: NHS Constitution Standards

NHS CONSTITUTION
CCG BASED INDICATORS

OPERATIONAL
STANDARD
Referral to Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no
92%
more than 18 weeks from referral
Number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks on incomplete pathways
0
Diagnostic test waiting times
Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests)
1%
A & E waits – Four Hour Standard
A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less
95%
in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge
Cancer waits – Two-week waits
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
93%
urgently for suspected cancer by a GP

2016/17
PERFORMANCE

90.8%
0
2.3%
93.4%
97.1%
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Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)
Cancer waits – one month (31 days) wait
Maximum 31-day wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatments for all cancers
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is surgery
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is an anticancer drug regimen
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course of
radiotherapy
Cancer waits – 2 month (62 days) waits
Maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer
Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first definitive
treatment for all cancers
Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultants decision
to upgrade the priority of the patients (all cancers)
Mental Health
Care Programme Approach (CPA): Percentage of people under mental illness
specialities on CPA who were followed up within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric
inpatient care during this period
50% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis will commence treatment
with a NICE approved care package within two weeks of referral
75% of people with common mental health conditions referred to the Improved
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme will be treated within six weeks
of referral
66.7% of dementia diagnosis of the estimated number of people with dementia.
PROVIDER BASED INDICATORS

93%

96.7%

96%
94%
98%

98.8%
97.8%
99.9%

94%

98.4%

85%
90%

86.2%
95.7%

No national
operational
standard

90.3%

95%

98.0%

50%

85.0%

75%

81.5%

66.7%

61.2%

OPERATIONAL
STANDARD

2016/17
PERFORMANCE

A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge

The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

95%

94.6%

Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

95%

91.1%

Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

95%

94.3%

Dorset Healthcare University Foundation Trust

95%

99.9%

Category A (Red1) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes

75%

Category A (Red 2) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes

75%

Category A calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19 minutes

95%

Provider not
assessed against
these standard in
2016/17

Category A Ambulance Calls: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Calls answered in 60 seconds

95%

83.3%

Although some standards were not achieved in 2016/17 we continued to make progress against
them through regular meetings with providers. Some further details are provided below:
• Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no more than
18 weeks from referral: in 2016/17 we have reported an increase in the number of patients
waiting for treatment which has had a detrimental impact on the ability to achieve the national
standard. Performance did improve in the last few months of 2016/17 where the Trusts
undertook significant work to reduce the number of patients waiting over 18 weeks for
9
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•

•

•

•

•

treatment. Locally, no patients waited in excess of 52 weeks treatment in 2016/17. Dorset CCG
continues to work will all providers to manage waiting times as best as possible in a very
challenging environment.
Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests): during
2016/17 we noted an increase in the number of diagnostic waits waiting in excess of 6 weeks.
Significantly one Trust reported a number of tests with breaches of the 6 week standard across a
number of modalities. The position at the end of March 2017 improved significantly with all
providers across Dorset achieving compliance, this was the first time this was achieved in
2016/2017. We continue to work in collaboration with our providers to improve on this position
further.
Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to
transfer, admission or discharge: there has been increased demand for services in terms of
patients presenting at the Emergency Department (ED) especially in the early part of 2016/17.
Three of our local providers failed to achieve the 95% standard in 2016/17 however considerable
progress in performance has been noted throughout the financial year. We are pleased that the
performance across Dorset is still notably higher than the national average however we continue
to work with all stakeholders within Dorset to ensure the system delivers the best performance
for patients locally. We continue to review all the schemes currently being used across different
ED departments with a view to extending those schemes that are having maximum benefit;
Maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer: In
2016/17 we achieved this standard having achieved all four quarters within year. Our providers
have worked exceptionally hard during this very challenging operational year to safeguard
performance against this standard in response to falling short against this standard in 2015/16,
therefore achieving our aim to improve as outlined in last year’s annual report. We have worked
as a system; working collaboratively across all of Dorset to achieve this standard and developing
our cancer services towards our overall ambition of one cancer service for Dorset. This system
wide approach, supported by the inception of the Dorset Cancer Partnership (DCP), has the remit
to deliver the STP for cancer transformation across Dorset. This increases resilience in terms of,
workforce and capacity to provide the best possible services for our patients in terms of
timeliness, quality and patient experience.
Mental health – improved rates of dementia diagnosis (66.7% by March 2017) and improving
post diagnostic support: We continue to work through data to understand anomalies. The service
is diagnosing on average 100 – 150 patients per month yet the diagnosis target has not increased
significantly for more than a year now. We have identified that numbers of removals may be one
reason and we are evidencing difference from the urban and rural localities similarly to other
rural areas. A data harmonisation exercise commenced in April 2017. A pilot linked to identifying
people with dementia in care homes has commenced. The Dementia Services Review
commenced in the summer 2016 and a view seeking report and needs and data analysis report
published.
999 Emergency Ambulance Service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
(SWASFT): The Ambulance Trust has been participating in a national Ambulance Response
Programme (ARP) throughout 2016/17. This programme aims to improve response times to
critically ill patients, making sure the best response is sent to each patient first time with the
appropriate degree of urgency. SWASFT commenced ARP on 19 April 2016. One of the key
objectives is to enable the Trust to deliver more available resources, as a result of fewer multiple
allocations, to respond to life-threatening incidents. Category 1 calls (time critical life threatening
events) performance for the period October 2016 to February 2017 (ARP2.2) was 71.54%
compared to 68.38% from April 2016 to October 2016 (ARP2). National target is set at 75% to
respond within 8 minutes, however SWASFT is not being formally performance managed against
this for the duration of the pilot. The CCG has taken over as lead commissioner for this
collaborative contract from April 2017 and has conducted a review of the existing governance,
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resulting in a proposal to refresh the governance framework, allowing for better strategic
alignment between SWASFT and the seven STPs. This is in line with the new mandate from NHS
England for STPs to develop and deliver a UEC Delivery Plan. Dorset is also linked to the National
Ambulance Commissioning Network (NACN) and involved in the new Commissioning
Development work stream, as referred to in the urgent and emergency care delivery plan. Dorset
as Lead Commissioner will be working closely with the Trust, 12 CCGs and 7 STPs to agree key
priorities for the developing ambulance transformation work plan. Locally this will feed into the
urgent and emergency care system programme and the ambulance work stream which supports
the overall STP for Dorset.
• NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust: The Trust had a
challenging 2016/17 following their CQC inspection in March 2016 however a Regulatory
Consolidated Action Plan (RCAP) has since been developed and remains to be a vital plan to
ensure continued improvements are met and executive governance oversight is maintained.
Performance against calls answered within 60 seconds has steadily improved throughout the year
and for the period January 2017 – February 2017 was at 85.3% (target = 95%). The Trust is now
consistently reaching above national average levels for this target. The CCG are actively working
with the Trust in developing an integrated urgent care service line plan which will support the
nationally driven integrated urgent care (IUC) work programme incorporating the national IUC
commissioning standards, integrated IUC key performance indicators and the urgent and
emergency care delivery plan.
QUALITY PREMIUMS
The Quality Premium is intended to recognise the CCG for improvements in the quality of the
services that we commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing
inequalities. The table below provides an assessment against the NHS Constitution performance
standards for period 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2017 as outlined in the Quality Premium National
guidance.
Table 2: NHS Constitution requirement for patient rights and pledges

NHS Constitution requirement for the following patient rights and
pledges
92% of Patients should wait no more than 18 weeks from referral to
consultant-led treatment
95% of Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within
four hours of their arrival at an A&E department
85% of Patients should have a maximum wait of 62 days from urgent
GP referral for suspected cancer to first treatment
75% 8 minute response for Cat A (RED 1) ambulance calls
Expected Adjustment (based on Forecast Rating)

Assessment as at
31 March 2017

Expected Rating

90.8%

Not Achieved

93.4%

Achieved

86.2%

Achieved

N/A

Expected
compliance **
25%

* it is expected that Dorset CCG will achieve this element of Quality Premium despite not achieving the
national standard.
** it is expected that NHS England will give Dorset CCG a waiver against this performance standard. The CCG
and Provider Trust implemented a new pilot in 2016/17 and therefore is not currently assessed against the
national standard.

11

PERFORMANCE REPORT
Table 3: Quality Premium

Measure

Measure Definition

Cancer: New cases of Cancers
diagnosed at an early stage.

This is a two-part Quality Premium. CCGs will need to
either:
1. Demonstrate a 4 percentage point improvement in the
proportion of cancers (specific cancer sites, morphologies
and behaviour*) diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 in the 2016
calendar year compared to the 2015 calendar year.
Or
2. Achieve greater than 60% of all cancers (specific cancer
sites, morphologies and behaviour*) diagnosed at stages 1
and 2 in the 2016 calendar year.
To earn this portion of the quality premium, CCGs will
need to demonstrate in the July 2017 publication, either:
- Achieve a level of 85% of respondents who said they had
a good experience of making an appointment, or;

GP Patient Survey: Overall
experience of making a GP
appointment.

E-Referrals: Increase in the
proportion of GP referrals made by
E-referrals.

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR):
Improving antibiotic prescribing in
primary care

- A 3 percentage point increase from July 2016 publication
on the percentage of respondents who said they had a
good experience of making an appointment.
CCGs will need to, either:
- Meet a level of 80% by March 2017 (March 2017
performance only) and demonstrate a year on year
increase in the percentage of referrals made by e-referrals
(or achieve 100% e-referrals), or;
- March 2017 performance to exceed March 2016
performance by 20 percentage points.
This Quality Premium measure consists of two parts (each
worth 50% of the Quality Premium payment available for
this indictor):
Part a) reduction in the number of antibiotics prescribed in
primary care. Performance in 2016/17 must either be:
- A 4% (or greater) reduction on 2013/14 - Or equal to (or
below) 2013/14 mean performance 1.161 OR
Part b) reduction in the proportion of broad spectrum
antibiotics prescribed in primary care
- To be equal to or lower than 10% OR
- Or to reduce by 20% from each CCG's 14/15 value

Expected Rating

Not Achieved
(20%)

Not Achieved
(20%

Borderline
Achieved
(20%)

Achieved
(10%)

Local Priority Quality Premium
COPD: Reported to estimated
prevalence of COPD on GP
registers as % of estimated
prevalence

Using the most up to date published results (2015/16 QOF)
we are showing a 57.2% Reported to Estimated Prevalence
- which is a 2% increase on the previous year.

Stroke: Number of Patients in
known AF before stroke admitted
to hospital who had been
prescribed anticoagulation prior to
stoke.

CCG proposal to bring performance in line with National
average and deliver 50% in 2016/17.

Delayed Transfers of Care: From
hospital per 100,000 population
aged 18+

CCG to set target to achieve 62.50 in 2016/17 which based
on current 2014/15 QOF is expected to deliver the national
average.

To reduce the rate to 600 bed days lost per month for
2016/17.

Not Achieved
(10%)

Achieved
(10%)

Achieved
(10%)
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Although the payment of the Quality Premium for 2016/17 has not been agreed the CCG is expecting
to underachieve in a number of areas across NHS Constitution and National Quality Premium
Measures. Some further details are provided below:
•
•

•

•

•

Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no more
than 18 weeks from referral: Commentary included on page 9 as part of NHS Constitution
standards;
New cases of Cancers diagnosed at an early stage: The most recent data available nationally is
from calendar year 2014 when the CCG reported performance significant higher than the
National average. This indicated that 55.50% of patients were diagnosed early at stages 1 and
2. The national average was 48.2%. It is therefore possible for the CCG to achieve the quality
premium standard above however in the absence of national data this remains difficult to
assess.
GP Patient Survey: Overall experience of making a GP appointment: We are aware that
primary care is not achieving the 85% target. The next set of results will be published July 2017.
However the Primary Care Team is currently working on extended access as part of the GP
Forward View delivery plan. It is the Dorset CCG ambition, to achieve full population coverage
for extended access as part of an integrated access model (including GP extended access and
IUCATS) by March 2019. Planning trajectories are currently under development to reflect
population need, activity and costing. It is anticipated that coverage will reach 100% of the
population with extended access during the last quarter of 2018-19, before maintaining 100%
of the population with extended access from March 2019.
E-Referrals: Increase in the proportion of GP referrals made by E-referrals: Utilisation of Ereferral for first outpatient appointments has continued at a similar rate to 2015/2016, with our
average 2016/2017 year to date being 0.2% higher than 2015/2016. However, there are
months when usage has dipped slightly below 80% and our current forecast based on national
dashboards is 79.9%. January 2017’s achievement was 78.9%. Ability for referrers and patients
to book into appointments is determined by providers making their first outpatient services
available on E-referral plus these services having appointments available. To manage their
capacity providers have made some services unavailable and as commissioners we have been
working through the last quarter of 2016/2017 to encourage providers to reinstate these. Our
exact performance will not be known until May 2017 when it is expected to be very borderline
as to whether achieved or not. Plans for 2017/2018 will link in with the CQUIN available to
providers for having 100% of their first outpatient services available with all appointments
available for booking through E-referral by April 2018 to allow the organisation to move
towards the 100% target for referrals by October 2018.
COPD: Reported to estimated prevalence of COPD on GP registers as % of estimated
prevalence: Using the most up to date published results (2015/16 QOF) we are showing a 57.2%
Reported to Estimated Prevalence - which is a 2% increase on the previous year. COPD
Prevalence has been included as a key focus area within the Clinical Commissioning Local
Improvement Plan (CCLIP) and the CCG primary care outcome framework for the coming
year. This was implemented in the later part of 2016, and has been continued in to the 2017.

The total amount of award available to us was £3,936,500. With one adjustment totalling 25% for
the non-achievement of one NHS Constitution Standard this reduced the award to a maximum of
£2,950,000.
The expected performance against the national and local quality premium standards for 2016/17
indicates that three standards may not be achieved and therefore resulting in a further adjustment
of 50%. The anticipated award equates to £1,475,000.
13

PERFORMANCE REPORT
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
The CCG achieved its financial duties for 2016/17 and delivered a surplus of £17.7 million, which
included a surplus of £0.5 million on the CCG running cost allowance. This was delivered against the
revenue resource limit of £1,161.1 million and a running cost allowance of £16.8 million,
respectively.
It should be noted that our in-year position was break-even, as £17.7m was our rolled forward
surplus from previous financial years.
In addition, as set out in the 2016/17 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 1
percent reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the monies that
CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. This was intended to be released for
investment in Five Year Forward View transformation priorities to the extent that evidence emerged
of risks not arising or being effectively mitigated through other means.
In the event, the national position across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has
been unable to allow CCGs’ 1% non-recurrent monies to be spent. Therefore, to comply with this
requirement, NHS Dorset CCG has released its 1% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an
additional surplus for the year of £11.1m. This additional surplus will be carried forward for
drawdown in future years.
There have been a number of challenges for the CCG in the 2016/17 financial year, including:
•
•
•

activity over-performance within local NHS providers of £4.5m, capped at a maximum value;
a continued upward trend on activity in the non-NHS Sector equating to £3m additional cost
pressure;
over-spends in NHS smaller providers and non-contractual activity of £1m relating again to high
levels of over-performance.

It is worth noting that there has been a continuation of the significant improvement in the financial
performance of Continuing Healthcare which has managed to deliver an under-spend against a
budget set on 2015/16 actuals. 2016/17 has also seen an under-spend in prescribing, reflecting
lower than average growth in both costs and volume.
There is an expectation that the four main providers in Dorset will decrease their deficit position
from 2015/16 (£26m) to (£8m) in 2016/17. This reflects considerable work by providers in year on
cost improvement plans as well as receipt of Sustainability and Transformation funding. Three out
of the four Dorset providers in Dorset are anticipating better than expected financial performance
against their agreed control totals with a revised collective deficit of (£4m).
Table 4: Summary of 2016/17 Revenue Performance (£m)

2016/17

2016/17

2016/17

£'000
Programme

£'000
Running
Costs

£'000
Total

1,144,309

16,833

1,161,142

Underspend against Revenue Resource Limit

17,176

522

17,698

1% System Risk Reserve (additional underspend)

11,107

-

11,107

2.5%

3.1%

2.5%

Revenue Resource Limit

Total percentage under spend

14

PERFORMANCE REPORT
The £17.7m cumulative surplus and £11.1m system risk reserve are available to the CCG for use nonrecurrently in future years and will be released in agreement with NHS England as part of an agreed
plan. Part of this draw-down is already agreed as part of future years planning, which is explained
more in the future financial outlook.
Figure 1: Analysis of net operating costs 2016/17

FUTURE FINANCIAL OUTLOOK
FINANCE AND ACTIVITY
‘Our Dorset’ Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) sets out the challenges of delivering
improvements and transforming health and care services at a time of increased demand and lower
growth in resources. The total financial gap for the Dorset STP footprint (including all NHS
commissioners), over the five year period of the STP is £229m. This equates to £158m gap for the
Dorset CCG footprint over the five year period (excluding specialised commissioning and other
commissioners).
Our STP identifies how the five year gap will be closed and the solutions we have planned. The
implementation of some of these solutions is dependent on the Clinical Services Review public
consultation and as such may not be implemented until years’ three-to five of the STP plan.
CCG FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 2017/18 TO 2018/19
The CCG has received its funding allocation as set by the national allocation formula, as outlined in
the table below:
Table 5: Funding allocations

2016/17
£m
982.1

2017/18
£m
1,008.3

2018/19
£m
1,028.5

Primary Care delegated

97.7

101.2

103.1

Running cost allowance

16.8

16.8

16.8

CCG Income growth

29.8

22.1

22.4

1,126.4

1,148.4

1,170.8

3.0%

2.2%

2.2%

CCG Commissioner Income

Recurrent Income, total
CCG Income growth %
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In addition to the income levels shown in the table above, in 2016/17, the CCG also received other
non-recurrent funding of £17.1m, including a final year of legacy funding of £8.8m, which has been
used to fund winter pressures schemes in local Dorset providers.
In addition we have been notified that for 2017/18 and 2018/19 that we should expect changes to
the allocation for technical adjustments related to HRG4+ of £8.5m and £8.7m respectively.
Due to these anticipated changes in allocation formulae and loss of non-recurrent funding sources
the 2017/18 year will be the most financially challenged year since the CCG’s inception.
CCG CONTROL TOTAL
As part of the plans for 2017/18 and 2018/19 the CCG has been given an in-year control total deficit
target of £1.594m. The CCG is planning on delivering a combined control total in 16/17 of £17.698m
and therefore our planned surplus will be as follows:
•
•

2017/18
2018/19

£16.104m
£14.510m

CCG EXPENDITURE 2017/18 TO 2018/19
We have an ambition to fully meet the NHS business rules and policy requirements including
contributions to the Better Care Fund, investing in primary care, mental health services, maintaining
the required surplus and levels of non-recurrent investment; whilst planning to deliver the CCG
control total and deliver the level of efficiency (or Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention
(QIPP)).
With the real movement in income identified above for 2017/18 however, it should be recognised
that the scale of this ambition is supported by a significant level of unidentified QIPP of £14.8m,
which will be incredibly challenging to deliver, so a high risk of not achieving all of the ambitions.
We are working within the Dorset system to deliver the STP and as such our financial position is set
in the context of the Dorset health system working together to a shared control total, with each
organisational control total making up the system total.
The table below shows how we plan to spend our allocation over the next two years by expenditure
sector.

16

PERFORMANCE REPORT
Figure 2: Planned spend

DORSET HEALTH SYSTEM COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENT
In order to provide an environment of mutual support, collaboration and trust the four Dorset
provider FTs and the CCG have jointly developed a collaborative agreement which aims to underpin
the systems delivery of the level of change identified in our Sustainability and Transformation Plan
and is in place for at least 2017/18 and 2018/19 and forms part of our contractual arrangements.
In signing up to this agreement provider organisations in Dorset are working on the basis of a flat
cash contract based on their respective 2016/17 planned outturn and all partners to the agreement
are working on agreed actions to support delivery of cost improvement plans and reducing demand.
The agreement also has an underpinning principle of collective management of risk.
The partnership is supported through an Operational and Finance Reference Group, who are
responsible for ensuring the delivery of the agreed actions and supporting the system through
robust challenge and scrutiny to stay within its individual and system financial control total(s).
This is not without its challenges however as the system has identified that for 2017/18 the
anticipated levels of savings and efficiencies required are £103m.
If the system and organisations respectively deliver control totals agreed with NHS England and NHS
Improvement for 2017/18 and equally deliver performance on A&E, this will be offset by receipt of
£18.9m sustainability funding.
The delivery will be ambitious as it is also set against a backdrop where we have seen a continual
growth in activity and demand.
In order to achieve the ambition for the required business rules and efficiency savings required as
mentioned above, we have agreed with all Dorset providers a flat cash, flat activity and flat
workforce position. This assumption is in the major Dorset provider operating plans and will allow us
to deliver our operating standards by controlling demand for hospital and community services whilst
not expanding our workforce and thus controlling our costs.
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This assumption underpins our providers achieving the requirements to access the Sustainability and
Transformation Fund (STF) and both the CCG and the wider system meeting the required
constitutional standards.
Our solutions delivered by our STP strategy fall into three main categories:
•
•
•

provider and commissioner efficiency plans;
maintaining flat activity levels;
delivering transformational solutions (consultation independent in years one to two and
consultation dependent from year three).

BETTER CARE FUND
Work is continuing with local authority partners and health and we have expanded in 2016/17 our
pooled Better Care Fund Resources to include people with Learning Disabilities that were previously
cared for within an “NHS campus” estate. This area will be further expanded to incorporate the
Transforming Care Partnership people that are currently placed out of area that can be provided for
within Dorset.
The ambition is to also further expand our arrangements to pooled budgets, although to start with
they will be aligned for continuing care and social care placements to focus on savings opportunities
linked to managing the unit cost of care packages as Dorset has been identified as a high cost area.
Work is on-going with local authority partners to also look at joint team opportunities to maximum
use of our collective resources.
Following the recent announcements of additional funding being made available for social care,
active work is also happening in Dorset to establish the best use of this resource and to enable the
continuing improvement in the management of delayed discharges and moving towards discharging
people to be assessed outside of hospital.
COST IMPROVEMENT PLANS ACROSS ALL FOUR NHS FOUNDATION TRUSTS
In addition to agreeing to flat cash, activity and workforce, our local providers have agreed to
contribute at least 2% savings on their existing cost base, supported by the national Lord Carter work
programme.
This will see the delivery of more appropriate services with better outcomes for less money by
maximising effectiveness across the workforce and in areas such as supplies, information technology
and estates. The work of the Acute Care Collaboration Vanguard in strengthening Dorset clinical
networks, pathology services and efficiencies associated with business support services, will
contribute to these savings.
CCG EFFICIENCY PLANS (QIPP)
Efficiency savings for the main CCG programmes encompass Continuing Healthcare (avoidance of 3%
growth), prescribing (avoidance of 4% growth), reducing CCG running costs and review of
discretionary budgets, social care support and primary care.
Despite the plans already prioritised and agreed to deliver for QIPP, there is still a level of
unidentified QIPP in the CCG of £14.8m. It has been agreed we can offset £4.7m, which was available
for local transformation schemes set as part of NHS England business rules.
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In addition we believe our financial gap can also be closed by performing well and achieving our
quality premium in full, although we have currently only assumed 50%, equivalent to £2m.
This still leaves the Dorset CCG with further schemes to identify of £8.1m.
In addition the CCG will also need to manage risks of over-spends and put in mitigating actions for
any unplanned variation.
PREVENTION AT SCALE
In developing ‘Our Dorset’, the Prevention at Scale Programme is firmly embedded as the
foundation of all our plans, underpinning and threading though all the work we do, including our
Integrated Community and Primary Care Services and One Acute Network Programmes.
NHS Dorset CCG is a member of both Dorset and Bournemouth and Poole Health and Wellbeing
Boards. We are committed to improving the health and wellbeing of our current and future
population, reducing unacceptable differences in health and life expectancy of different groups of
people in Dorset. We will also look to reduce demand on services, in particular for those with long
term conditions, which will help to ensure sustainable health and care services in the future.
Key themes and projects include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

healthy environments – supporting local authorities and the Health and Wellbeing Board in
shaping both built and natural environments to promote health and wellbeing, including
healthy homes, active travel and the use of green spaces and coastlines;
build community development – actively promoting and supporting volunteers in the
community;
scaling up individual behaviour change – connecting more people with the LiveWell Dorset
service, which provides personalised support, so they can change their lifestyle and take more
control of their own health and wellbeing;
reducing variation in secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes –
understanding barriers to implementing the National Audit Office high impact interventions,
and supporting the development of new models of care that will support delivery;
health at work – development of a common framework across all partner organisations (see
page 84);
physical activity programme – bringing together public, voluntary and commercial sector to
build a more co-ordinated approach and explore potential large scale interventions;
reducing the impact of falls – preventing first falls and reducing the chance of subsequent falls
and their impact on people’s health and independence.

Progress to date includes:
•
•

•
•
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the Health and Wellbeing Strategies of our two Health and Wellbeing Boards have been
refreshed and are aligned with the Prevention at Scale work in our STP;
we have identified specific actions that can be scaled up for each of three focus areas:
cardiovascular disease and diabetes; mental health and musculoskeletal; and alcohol. From this
we have developed key themes, some of which are already in place but need to be scaled up, as
well as new projects that will help to close the health and wellbeing gap;
a wide range of approaches to engaging with the voluntary sector are in place;
an 18 month evaluation of Public Health Dorset’s new Live Well contract shows improved reach
into more deprived communities and improved long term data collection, but together we need
to do more to get the scale of change we need to have a whole population impact;
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•
•
•
•
•

smoking cessation in pregnancy is now well developed and we are moving towards this as an
integral part of the service;
GP practice profiles have been developed that include data on secondary prevention of
cardiovascular disease and diabetes;
a system wide group established to work collaboratively around initiatives to support the health
and wellbeing of staff;
a co-ordinated approach to increasing physical activity has been agreed and a bid made to Sport
England to support development within that model;
a Falls Strategy has been agreed.

INTEGRATED COMMUNITY AND PRIMARY CARE SERVICES
This programme will transform general practice, primary and community health and care services in
Dorset, so that they are truly integrated and based on the needs of our local populations.
Our priorities are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

support people to better manage their own health, with access to appropriate information and
support – we expect a 10% reduction in new outpatient attendances and a 25% reduction in
follow-ups;
provide care that is based on the needs of our local population, with services delivered at the
times and places people need them;
enable more people to receive care at home and in the community, and to self-manage longterm conditions, to avoid having to visit hospital or being admitted as an inpatient - we expect
to reduce unplanned medical admissions by 25% and unplanned surgical admissions by 20%;
make sure our community services are able to support frail older people with long term
conditions so that more care can be delivered closer to home;
improve personalised care for people with complex needs, including individuals with learning
disabilities;
adopt new technologies that will support a high quality, consistent patient experience
throughout the health system, with standardised working practices and seamless
communication between health and care professionals;
create integrated teams of professionals with the right skill mix (including students) in improved
working environments, to support the delivery of the model of care as well as enhance skills
acquisition and personal development opportunities;
make sure that our NHS buildings, resources and finances are used in a cost-efficient way,
including by planning care on a larger scale to achieve cost savings.

Progress to date includes:
•
•
•

in May 2016, the CCG Governing Body approved recommendations for the out of hospital
approach;
following a robust assurance process Wessex Clinical Senate agreed that we could go out to
formal public consultation on our proposals;
public consultation has been undertaken together with the one acute network of services – see
Patient and Public Involvement for more detail on engagement on page 38.
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ONE ACUTE NETWORK OF SERVICES
This programme will transform acute services in Dorset so that they meet the complex and specialist
needs of our local population.
Our priorities are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

establish centres of excellence for patients who need hospital based services;
develop a Major Emergency Hospital to provide more urgent and emergency care 24 hours a
day, seven days a week where evidence shows it makes a difference to clinical outcomes,
including across major trauma, hyper acute cardiac, stroke, emergency surgery;
develop a Major Planned Care Hospital to provide high quality and timely care for planned
(elective) and day case surgery;
maintain a Planned Care and Emergency Hospital to provide urgent and emergency alongside
planned and specialist care;
establish single acute networks for services such as cancer, heart disease and stroke, so that
consistent services are provided for people across Dorset;
support integrated community and primary care services to treat where appropriate more
people out of hospital and reduce the need for an inpatient stay, including the provision of
more urgent and emergency care;
invest over £100 million in refurbishments and enhancements, including a new maternity and
paediatric unit in east Dorset;
provide an integrated frailty service and improved mental health care, working closely with the
Integrated Community and Primary Care Services and supporting the Mental Health Acute Care
Pathway review;
deliver a range of primary and community services from our acute hospital sites;
adopt new technologies that will support a high quality, consistent patient experience
throughout the health system, with standardised working practices and seamless
communication between health professionals;
join our workforce across Dorset into a single network working together to support the delivery
of more 24/7 services across our hospitals and the Integrated Community and Primary Care
Services programme, as well as enhance skills acquisition and career and personal.

Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•

the CCG Governing Body approved recommendations in May 2016 for the model of care for
acute hospital services, the site specific options for acute hospital services;
following a robust assurance process NHS England agreed that we could go out to formal public
consultation on our proposals;
public consultation has been undertaken together with Integrated Community and Primary Care
Services – see Patient and Public Involvement for more detail on engagement on page 38;
the Dorset 2017/18 and 2018/19 local collaborative agreement has been signed off. The
agreement sets out key deliverables, including deadlines and accountability.

RIGHTCARE
NHS England is investing in this programme to enable every health economy in England to embed
the NHS RightCare approach at the heart of their transformation programmes.
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It is a programme committed to improving people’s health and outcomes. It makes sure that the
right person has the right care, in the right place, at the right time, making the best use of available
resources.
In Dorset we are committed to working with partners to better understand the variation in current
services to help us ensure we get the best outcomes for patients and the best value for money for
the system, through implementing the national RightCare programme.
In doing this, we have been working with the RightCare national delivery partner for the Wessex
area and clinicians from across primary, community and secondary care to identify opportunities to
reduce unwarranted variation, de-commission low priority procedures and reduce intervention rates
where appropriate.
We have identified the following areas which provide the greatest opportunities in relation to both
spend and outcomes:
•
•
•
•

musculoskeletal and trauma and injuries;
cancer;
mental health;
circulation (cardiovascular disease).

Building on the engagement we have undertaken to date, from January 2017 we will complete the
design phase of the programme which will see the development of detailed project initiation
documents, establishment of task and finish groups to take forward the approval and
implementation of the pathways from June 2017 onwards.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•

a Dorset system-wide workshop has been held;
provider projects have been agreed;
the CCG has identified project leads;
a RightCare programme plan has been developed and is beginning to be implemented.

CANCER
‘Achieving World-Class Cancer Outcomes; A Strategy for the NHS 2015-2020’ is the national strategy
for improving cancer outcomes across England by 2020. It is estimated that the implementation of
the strategy could deliver around 30,000 additional patients surviving cancer every year, which
equates to 300 lives saved in Dorset per annum. A step change in patient experience and quality of
life also underpins the strategy.
The vision is to move to commission cancer services based on outcomes with a lead or accountable
provider. The CCG will work collaboratively with partners in considering approaches and models
applied in other areas that support developing models of care which promote parity of esteem,
subsequent delivery plans and support the vision for cancer services for the Dorset population. We
recognise the importance of developing a competent IT system to support the future delivery of our
vision and better outcomes for patients.
The national RightCare programme (see page 21) takes each health economy and reviews quality,
efficiency and outcomes of service provision against a cohort of similar health economies. It has
been agreed that the initial focus will be skin lesions, haematology follow ups, the Urology pathways
and medicines management.
22

PERFORMANCE REPORT
During 2016/17 there has been great emphasis place on the development of provider networking,
risk sharing and the development of the Dorset Cancer Partnership to deliver as a health care system
our shared cancer priority work.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

NICE NG12 guidance implemented across Dorset with collaboration between the CCG, providers
and primary care working in conjunction with the Wessex Cancer Alliance to share best practice
and learning;
new ambitious lung cancer pathway designed with collaboration across Dorset providers.
Further work required in order to implement;
significant progress made with cancer waiting times with all four quarters achieved for 62 day
referral to treatment standard which impacts positively on the Improvement and Assurance
Framework scorecard;
bringing endobronchial ultrasound (EBUS) back to Dorset from Southampton University Hospital
as part of the lung service, enabling care closer to home;
Dorset was successful becoming one of the five national test sites for the proposed new cancer
standard, 28 days to diagnosis;
work has been undertaken to continue to improve against the NHS England Assurance
Framework indicators for cancer;
engagement event held 21 June with a variety of stakeholders looking at the future of cancer
services in Dorset;
the Dorset Cancer Partnership (DCP) has been established with a dedicated programme lead
appointed. This has been supported pan Dorset and across all providers;
the Dorset Cancer Partnership with support from the CCG has developed a set of priorities
which the health community of Dorset have agreed to deliver together;
successful national bids developed in partnership through the Dorset Cancer Partnership in
collaboration with the wider Wessex Cancer Alliance. These have been awarded to support the
recovery package and risk stratified patient follow up.

LEARNING DISABILITY
The Transforming Care programme, for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and
behaviour that challenges services, including those with mental health needs, was developed by NHS
England. This was as a result of the inquiry into the abuse of vulnerable people at Winterbourne
View. The three year programme began in February 2016 and completes in March 2019.
Transforming Care is a partnership between ourselves, Dorset County Council, Bournemouth
Borough Council, Borough of Poole and NHS England and is governed locally by the Dorset
Transforming Care Programme and Learning Disability Joint Commissioning Board.
Our priorities include:
•
•

reducing the number of people with learning disability/autism in specialist hospitals to between
10-15 inpatients per million population (CCG commissioned placements) and 20-25 inpatients
per million population (NHS England commissioned placements) by March 2019;
increasing the percentage of people on the GP learning disability health check register receiving
an annual health check to 75% by March 2019.

Progress to date includes:
•
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•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

two speaking up groups have been carried out with people with learning disabilities to
understand their views on living in specialist hospitals and the process of leaving and settling in
the community. With a further four groups to take place by March 2017. Views will be fed into
the shaping of the workstream delivery;
a learning disability crisis pathway has been developed;
ten beds within a new residential home with specialist nursing (Shottsford House) have been
commissioned;
the TCP partnership is on track to meet its trajectory to have 9 CCG commissioned inpatients by
June 2017;
workshops have taken place with care and support providers to identify gaps in skills and
knowledge;
a risk register has been developed and populated which identifies people with LD and/or autism
at risk of placement breakdown or hospital admission;
a crisis flat in Bournemouth has been commissioned to support an individual with a learning
disability and/or autism for a short period of time which will reduce the risk of placement
breakdown and/or hospital admission;
a multi-agency task and finish group has met to develop an improvement plan for the learning
disability health checks programme.

The Dorset Transforming Care Plan is available on the CCG website.
MENTAL HEALTH
We are committed to tackling mental health with the same energy and priority as we have tackled
physical illness in order to deliver ‘parity of esteem’ in line with NHS England’s Five Year Forward
View for Mental Health.
Our priorities include:
•
•
•

preventing the development of mental health problems, and early intervention across primary
care and other services to NICE standards and national targets so that people get timely access
to the help that they need;
integrated community and primary care services supporting as many people as possible to stay
independent and to provide appropriate health and care closer to home;
improving the linkages with our acute services and raise the quality of the care that is provided
at a time of crisis, including for people with anxiety and depression as a result of pain, living
with a long-term condition or following an acute physical health event, as well as those living
with dementia.

Progress to date includes:
•

•

the system is consistently delivering targets associated with access to early intervention in
psychosis and recovery rates for people using the Steps to Wellbeing (S2W) service. Working
with our partner Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust we have been successful
in bid to introduce Employment Advisors into the S2W service and to expand both the core
service and to develop a new model of integrated physical and mental health provision
focusing on people with long term conditions from 2017/18;
a review on dementia services, run jointly with our local authority partners, using a coproduction approach was started in the autumn 2016. The needs analysis and view seeking
report can be found on our website . The review has now moved into the modelling stage and
is planned to have proposed new models ready for consultation by Spring 2018. This review is
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•

•

looking at how to improve services with a whole system approach across health and social care
and will include identifying changes required to meet the forthcoming national diagnosis
waiting time target and improve post diagnostic support and care;
significant work has been undertaken in the area of children and adolescent emotional health
and wellbeing across the system, culminating in a local strategy to improve local services, and
there has been significant improvement in access times to the children and adolescent mental
health services .
in 2015, the CCG and its partners started a review of support and treatment services for people
with a serious mental illness who were nearing or in crisis - this is called the Mental Health
Acute Care Pathway . During 2016, options for the model of care were co-produced with
people who use services, their supporters, the voluntary sector, and people who work in the
services across health and social care. A high level strategic outline business case was produced
and approved by the local system and NHS England and public consultation was undertaken
from 1 February until 31 March. The results are currently being analysed and the decision
making business case will be taken through the approval process in 2017.

PRIMARY CARE
The last twelve months have seen us continue to grow and develop to take on the challenges of fully
delegated authority for primary care commissioning from NHS England. This has included challenges
in terms of unsustainability of some practices which has led to several mergers this year. We are
now confident to face the challenges ahead and have the experience to make some potentially
major decisions about healthcare in the local area to achieve our ambition.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

developed a Primary Care Commissioning Strategy and Delivery Plan (fully aligned to the GP
Forward View);
refreshed our local estates strategy and submitted estates and technology planning
recommendations;
accelerated plans to transform primary care, integrating community and primary care services
to deliver new care models;
implementing the Weymouth Urgent Care Centre and Weymouth and Portland Integrated Care
Hub;
implemented integrated teams and developed community hubs in Bridport and Christchurch;
improved antibiotic prescribing rates in primary care and achieved nationals measures;
developed our Primary Care Workforce Centre and Doorway to Dorset recruitment campaign;
worked with partners across health and care to understand and develop plans for the estate
within Dorset;
developed plans to transform the infrastructure to facilitate at-scale working and technology
enabled care delivery.

ESTATES AND TECHNOLOGY TRANSFORMATION FUND
NHS England’s General Practice Five Year Forward View sets out the importance of investment in
primary care premises and technology to enable transformation in general practice.
In 2015/16, NHS England began a multi-year £1 billion investment programme to support primary
care and general practice to make improvements across a range of areas including premises (eg
improvements, refurbishments, extensions and new builds) and technology (eg technology systems
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which enable the delivery of a service which is paper free at the point of care, technology which
enables the public to have better access to services, and IT systems which support the development
of primary care at scale and integrated working practices).
In October 2015 NHS England invited all Clinical Commissioning Groups to put forward
recommendations for investment in primary care infrastructure to the Estates and Technology
Transformation Fund (2016 – 2019). Recommendations or bids were required to demonstrate
consistency with the priorities outlined in local Sustainability and Transformation Plans, local Estates
Strategies and local Digital Road Maps, and needed to demonstrate outcomes which would improve
access to effective care across local services.
Dorset CCG submitted 38 bids in total and, of these, 6 bids successfully passed through the first
assessment gateway. The total value of these 6 bids amounts to circa £9 Million.
Our priorities include:
•
•
•
•

to deliver the GP mobilising programme;
to deliver significant premises improvement to two GP practices;
to relocate two GP practices into new fit for purpose buildings;
to provide GP property improvements to current GP premises.

Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•

38 applications were submitted to the NHS England Estates and Technology Transformation
Fund;
two technology schemes were granted funding to be spent by 31 March 2017;
four premises schemes were granted initial funding to develop formal Business Cases by 31
March 2017 – subject to approval of these business cases full capital allocations will be made
for spend by 31 March 2019;
NHS England has indicated that Dorset CCG has achieved a higher than average Estates and
Technology Transformation Fund scheme allocation when compared to neighbouring CCGs (i.e.
£s per head of population).

ENABLING PROGRAMMES
LEADING AND WORKING DIFFERENTLY
To enable us to transform services set out in our Sustainability and Transformation Plan we need to
work more closely across different organisational boundaries for the benefit of patients and to help
address our workforce challenges; recognising we need to work collectively as a system to deliver an
integrated seamless services, and to maintain and develop professional skills.
The Leading and Working Differently Strategy was endorsed by the System Leadership Team in
October 2016. The strategy has a supporting implementation plan which has been informed by staff
from across the health and social care system and sets out the actions to address the workforce
challenges in Dorset. The implementation plan identifies four main work streams which are each led
by an NHS HR Director:
•
•

development of our leaders;
recruitment and retention of our staff;
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•
•

developing our staff;
supporting our staff through change.

Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

a review of the existing leadership opportunities and arrangements within the system and
recommended actions to ensure consistent access and opportunities, identifying and making
recommendations to meet any gaps;
defined a brief to develop the www.doorwaytodorset.nhs.uk site for all health and social care
organisations in Dorset, in addition to primary care;
a review to produce a Dorset wide Memorandum of Understanding to enable freedom of
movement of staff across health organisations in Dorset;
established a system wide group to work collaboratively around initiatives to support
the health and wellbeing of staff;
established a system wide apprenticeship group to work collaboratively to attract apprentices
into the system and meet the new Levy requirements;
delivered two system wide partnership conferences in Dorset to engage trade unions and staff
side colleagues in Dorset’s workforce strategy;
defined the terms of reference to establish a Dorset wide Social Partnership Forum to
commence April 2017.

DIGITALLY-ENABLED DORSET
Our vision is to support the transforming health and social care system with a collaborative Dorset
NHS Digital service. Local people and sustainable delivery of better outcomes is at the core of
everything we do. We adopt and exploit the best available technology to ensure appropriate digital
services safely empower people in their homes, communities and care settings.
Our portfolio of digital programmes and projects underpins the Sustainability and Transformation
Plan (STP). Technology plays a key role in assisting in the transformation efforts and new service
landscapes of all elements of the STP.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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creation and formal submission of a system wide digital roadmap for every aspect of health and
social care in the county, for approval and funding from NHS England;
development of a system wide group comprising of clinical and technical leads and public
representatives to direct and ratify the direction of our work;
breaking down organisational boundaries to create a broad range of subject matter expert
groups from all organisations to focus on finding the best answers for everyone;
delivered two ‘Game Changer’ events to engage as many people as possible from both the
public and private sectors to broaden the understanding of potential behind technologies
currently available and the opportunities that therefore exist for the redesigns of pathways and
care services;
forged strong relationships with Bournemouth University and major global technology firms
based in Dorset to leverage leading technology for the public;
started a primary care programme to implement collaborative technologies for general practice
and to broaden that into pharmacies, care and nursing home;
implemented technology to support the CCG adopting more remote working capability and to
enable flexible working practices to make the best use of CCG office space.
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BETTER CARE FUND
The pan Dorset Better Care Fund (BCF) has been established across the CCG and the three local
authorities providing social care within the CCG area (Dorset County Council, Borough of Poole and
Bournemouth Borough Council).
The 2016/17 BCF spanned both Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board and Bournemouth and Poole
Health and Wellbeing Board and comprised £74.613m of funds derived from social care grant, Care
Act monies, disabled facilities grant allocation and contributions from all partners.
Activities funded by the Better Care Fund comprised 12 schemes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

integrated community equipment service;
reablement;
early help;
carers;
accessible homes service;
integrated health and social care locality teams;
moving on from hospital living;
integrated crisis and rapid response services;
maintaining independence;
early supported hospital discharge schemes;
mental health and support for dementia;
support for safeguarding.

Taken together, these schemes represented a significant part of the joint health and social care
activity in the CCG area for the year.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

further development and embedding of the integrated locality team model with almost full
achievement of the key features and functions in the year;
establishment of the pan Dorset carers’ steering group. This is an influencing group consisting of
carer representatives and commissioners from the eight carers’ vision signatory organisations,
with the purpose of supporting the implementation of the pan Dorset carers vision;
a commissioning officer has been appointed to support work relating to people with a learning
disability who have moved on from hospital living;
prevention at scale, incorporating early help, has been identified as one of our key joint work
programmes in our Dorset STP;
mapping, reviewing of national examples and engagement have been undertaken as part of a
comprehensive mental health review. The initiation of a co-produced review of dementia
services has also been agreed by the Joint Commissioning Board;
a £7.8m five year framework contract has been awarded for the Dorset Care Record. This will
implement an information and communications technology system allowing the sharing of
health and social care data across Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole.
integrated discharge teams are in place or in development at our three acute hospitals.

Looking forward toward deeper health and social care integration, our Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP) has been agreed by our NHS and Local Authority partners as the single
plan to support integration over the next five years.
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Our Better Care Fund plan for 2017-2019 is to be used to set out the milestones and relevant pooled
funding arrangements for key deliverables, acting as the joint operational plan for integration for
health and adult social care over the coming two years.
SYSTEMS RESILIENCE AND EMERGENCY PLANNING
The Dorset Local Accident and Emergency (A&E) Delivery and Urgent Care Board was established in
September 2016 in line with national guidance issued 28 July 2016. This Board replaced the Dorset
Systems Resilience Group.
It is executive level whole system group of health and social care partners that focuses on Urgent
and Emergency Care. Initially the focus will be on the recovering of the 4 hour target in A&E. The
Board will also support the delivery of the Dorset System Transformation Plan 2016-2021 and the
Urgent and Emergency Care Review (Keogh 2013).
The membership of this Board reflects the recognised importance of achieving the 4 hour target, the
five mandated initiatives in the A&E improvement plan for 2016/17 and the Urgent and Emergency
Care Review (Keogh 2013).
The A&E Delivery and Urgent Care Board will:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

lead on the recovery of A&E including the 4 hour target, co-ordinate the capacity planning
across the health and social care system;
oversee the delivery of the Urgent Care Plan 2016-2020 and its corresponding action plan;
developing plans for winter resilience and ensuring effective system wide surge and escalation
processed exist;
supporting whole-system planning (including with local authorities) and ownership of the
discharge process;
review and consider the drivers of system pressures;
participate in the planning and operation for local ambulance services;
support solutions to meet system pressures for non-elective pathways;
link with Wessex Urgent and Emergency Care network to help support the delivery of its action
plan;
support the Better Care Fund in helping to implement action plans, particularly delayed
transfers of care plans.

Progress to date includes:
•
•
•

the development of robust, system wide plans for winter, which led to an improved position in
2015/16 and over bank holiday weekends;
improved partnership planning for seasonal variations through a variety of mechanisms
including piloting discharge to assess schemes, trusted assessor roles, and development of plans
for integrating services;
mobilisation of the new Weymouth Community Urgent Care Centre.

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE
We have continued to play a key command and control role for the NHS in Dorset over the last year,
assisting NHS England - South (Wessex) in discharging their responsibilities under the Civil
Contingencies Act (2004) locally. This is in line with a signed Memorandum of Understanding that we
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have in place with NHS England – South (Wessex). We have been involved in a handful of multiagency responses to incidents, working closely with partner organisations including Dorset Police,
Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Services and the South Western Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust. In a recent incident involving the discovery of unexploded World War II ordnance
in Corfe Mullen, the CCG worked with GP practices and Dorset Healthcare to locate vulnerable
people in an area which needed to be evacuated.
We have been involved in both the planning and participation of a number of exercises which test
our emergency response plans. Scenarios which have been exercised this year include an incident
involving a submarine, a large scale multi-vehicle crash and a hospital exercise to test Police
procedures in hospitals.
EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE ASSURANCE
In June 2016, the national NHS England team launched their 2016/17 assurance round for
emergency preparedness resilience and response (EPRR). NHS organisations are required to rate
themselves against a core standards matrix. NHS organisations and providers of NHS funded care
must meet these standards to ensure that they can respond to incidents whilst maintaining high
quality patient care. This matrix formed the basis of the 2016/17 assurance requirements. We have
assured both provider and CCG EPRR plans with NHS England and continue to monitor provider
action plans on a quarterly basis.
PROMOTING EQUALITY AND ADDRESSING HEALTH INEQUALITIES
We are committed to ensuring that we reduce health inequalities and that we have the needs of our
communities at the heart of our commissioning functions. We recognise that people access services
and need support in a range of different ways. Our challenge is to understand these communities,
engage effectively with them and then commission services to meet their local needs. Health
inequalities also form part of our Prevention at Scale Programme (see page 19 for further detail).
We are keen to build on the work already undertaken in previous years, developing a strong and
effective approach to our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and will continue to ensure that, as
commissioners, our providers of services have also considered all elements of the community and
can evidence how they have taken into consideration the needs of diverse communities throughout
Dorset in their provision of health services. Promoting equality and addressing health inequalities is
a priority for us as commissioners, employers and system leaders.
During 2016 there have been many developments in terms of championing equality and diversity,
raising awareness and building support systems for our commissioners to make more equitable
decisions.
Progress to date includes:
•
•
•

refresh of the equality, diversity and inclusion strategy for 2016 which included a review of our
equality objectives in line with the Equality Act;
re-established the equality, diversity and inclusion steering group, chaired by the Governing
Body Nurse Member, this group will drive forward the implementation of the strategy and
actions plan;
extensive engagement and communications with diverse groups and communities across
Dorset including the clinical services review, mental health acute care pathway and dementia
pathway;
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•
•

•

partnership working with providers to embed equality, diversity and inclusion across the
system;
continued to implement the Workforce Race Equality Standard and delivery of the action plan
including implementing unconscious bias training, opportunities for black and minority ethnic
staff to meet senior leaders, and raising awareness of job opportunities through partners such
as Dorset Race Equality Council;
continued to support staff through training and development opportunities and supporting
their health and wellbeing through a range of programmes including stress management and
physical activity schemes.

The full annual report for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 2016 can be found on our website.
JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT
We are members of the Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Intelligence group with local
authorities, public health and the voluntary sector, which leads the development of the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). During 2015/16 we have engaged with and supported the
development of the refreshed JSNA thematic summaries. These can be viewed via
http://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/JSNA.htm or direct at
http://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/understanding/jsna/
In the production of our Annual Report and Accounts we have engaged with our Health and
Wellbeing Boards to seek their views on how we have worked with them in delivering the priorities
set out in the Health and Wellbeing Boards and the production of the JSNA.
IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF SERVICES
SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
The CCG is a statutory member of the two Safeguarding Adults Boards (SAB) – Bournemouth and
Poole, and Dorset. Throughout this year, the SAB’s focus has been on embedding the Care Act and
the statutory framework for adult safeguarding into practice. The framework states partner agencies
need to work together to keep adults at risk of harm, safe from abuse whilst also adopting the
principles of wellbeing, prevention and safeguarding in practice. One of the main areas of work this
year has been around the management of self-neglect and hoarding and the Designated Adult
Safeguarding Manager (DASM) has worked with the Policy and Procedure sub group of the SAB to
develop guidance to address this locally. The DASM has also been engaged in the review of the
essential standards for adult safeguarding and the SAB policy and procedures rewrite.
The SAB also has a duty to commission safeguarding adult reviews (SARs) when an adult at risk dies
as a result of abuse or neglect. Throughout this year, the multi-agency partners have undertaken
two SAR’s, one around care delivery in a care home and the other a combined Domestic Homicide
Review/SAR of a vulnerable individual. The CCG has been actively involved in the setting of the terms
of reference for both of these reviews and by undertaking the independent management reviews as
they occur. The CCG has also contributed to a number of Domestic Homicide Reviews which have
been commissioned by the Community Safety Partnerships. We are committed to learning from
these sad events.
In collaboration with NHS England, the CCG has continued to make considerable effort to work with
providers to develop the understanding and application of the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and the
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Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLs) in practice. A number of interactive training sessions that
have the MCA at their centre have been delivered throughout the year, with the additional focus of
multi-agency risk management, and transition for individual moving from childrens to adult services.
The DASM has worked in close collaboration with the CCG children’s safeguarding leads to
strengthen the “Think Family” approach, across all cross cutting safeguarding such as PREVENT,
Domestic Abuse, and Modern Day Slavery (see page 55). The named GP for adult safeguarding has
supported the DASM in the delivery of both the GP safeguarding bulletin and in bi monthly peer
supervision meetings for the local GPs as well as a number of awareness raising and learning
sessions. Information templates have been developed to support the local GPs in their
documentation, coding and storage of adult safeguarding information within their records.
Work continued this year to strengthen the link between Safeguarding, Commissioning Managers
and Continuing Health Care to raise awareness of the changing landscape of adult safeguarding. The
DASM has strengthened links with the risk management team, care home team and medicines
management teams in the quality directorate of the CCG to ensure significant incidents that may
have a safeguarding component are reported appropriately. Integrated work continues in
collaboration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to identify any poor practice identified
through safeguarding within care homes and domiciliary care providers so that targeted support can
be offered to improve care provision or to undertake whole scale enquiries into concerns.
PATIENT SAFETY AND RISK
The role of the Patient Safety and Risk Team is to ensure a good safety culture is embedded across
our health community. Individuals within the team have been working closely with our healthcare
providers to continually develop and promote systems of learning from all incidents, and crucially
have been ensuring that learning is shared from adverse incidents, serious incidents and never
events across the county whilst seeking assurance that appropriate and timely action is taken to
mitigate against future events.
The CCG is committed to maintaining a Risk Management Framework that supports the
identification, analysis, management, monitoring, prioritisation and control of risks that may
threaten the delivery of its core principles and objectives: the Patient Safety and Risk Team has
been providing regular updates throughout the year regarding the Corporate Risk Register and the
CCG’s Assurance Framework to the Governing Body and sub-committees. The CCG’s aim is to create
a culture in which risk is considered as a matter of course, swiftly identified and suitably controlled.
The organisation’s strategies, policies and procedures are also maintained throughout the year by
the Team which ensures deadlines are met and essential information is disseminated.
INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL
We continue to work in partnership with local providers to ensure effective practice in the
prevention of healthcare associated infections. During the year there have been four cases of
methicillin resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia reported. All four have been
assigned to ‘third party’ as unrelated to healthcare interventions. This is a reduction of reports from
the nine cases reported last year.
The following table demonstrates the end of year position for clostridium difficile for Dorset
providers.
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Table 6: Infection control – clostridium difficile

Cases/Target
No of cases reported in acute, community and primary care
No of cases investigated and found unrelated Healthcare provision in Dorset
Total no of cases where lapse of care identified

31 March 2017
170
128
42

We have continued to review all community attributed clostridium difficile cases to ascertain any
learning for Primary Care Practitioners and we continue to work to improve anti-microbial
prescribing compliance.
The Pan-Dorset Patient Held Catheter Care Record that went live in September 2015 has been well
established and, following an audit carried out by providers which confirmed the record supported
effective management, Dorset Healthcare University Foundation Trust have taken over the
management of this resource.
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN
The CCG is a statutory member of both Local Safeguarding Childrens Boards (LSCB) – Dorset, and
Bournemouth and Poole and has continued to be an active member of the Boards’ sub-groups
throughout the year. Safeguarding Leadership and responsibility for safeguarding at CCG level is
through the Director of Nursing and Quality, clinically supported by the Designated Nurse
Consultant, the safeguarding team which includes three named GPs who have a special interest in
safeguarding children and families. In addition, we commission a Designated Doctor from secondary
care.
The named GPs provide expert advice on how to embed safeguarding in general practice and
support General Practice to improve the quality of safeguarding in a constructive way, with
appropriate and proportionate intervention.
Throughout the year, the CCG has participated in serious case reviews (SCR) which have been
commissioned by the LSCBs. We are supporting the drive for a change in how SCRs are conducted to
ensure the most effective learning for practice has been shared locally and nationally. This has
included hosting an event for the national reviewing officer, Sir Alan Wood, to support the national
review of SCRs.
Safeguarding service specifications for our commissioned providers have been drawn up by CCG
commissioners, with guidance from the Designated Nurses, outlining clear service standards
consistent with the requirements of the Children Act 1989/2004.
Key areas for development were identified within the Ofsted and CQC Inspections that were
undertaken in Dorset in 2015 and 2016, and actions have been taken to address all of these. One of
these was a requirement for commitment to establishing a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).
This work has progressed well and a pan-Dorset MASH is now being established with all relevant
partners. By April 2017 we will have an effective model of service delivery for the Dorset health
economy, with health services working alongside Police and all three Local Authorities in a single
safeguarding hub.
A key work stream during this year has been to ensure that we have effective skills across the health
system in recognising signs of sexual exploitation, and working on reducing this.
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The Governing Body has received training and receives regular reports which allow the opportunity
to consider the actions required from local SCR reports and the CQC inspection into Looked after
Children and Safeguarding.
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN
During 2016/17 a full profile mapping to fully understand the demographic and health needs has
been completed. This supports service planning and assists the CCG in fulfilling its statutory
responsibilities to ensure the health needs for looked after children (LAC) and care leavers (CL) are
met. A full annual 2015/16 Looked after Children’s and Care Leavers CCG Pan Dorset Health Report
has been published outlining the full demographics and health outcomes being met and those
requiring further improvement. There is a clear work plan for improving the health of LAC and CLs
which has been maintained and reviewed monthly by the Designated Nurse with areas for action,
time frames and outcomes reported to the Directors Performance Meeting monthly and Quality
Group and the Governing Body Quarterly.
There continues to be an increase in the number of children and young people being accommodated
by the three local authorities within Dorset which is consistent with the national trend. The most
recently available number (December 2016) in total are 1,920, this is made up of 1027 Looked after
children, 568 Care Leavers, 278 children placed in Pan Dorset by other authorities and 47 children
with Statement of Educational Need and Disability (SEND) meeting LAC status; aged 21 to 25. These
vulnerable groups have complex, challenging physical and emotional mental health needs. Close
working arrangements between the CCG Safeguarding Leads and the Designated Nurse for Looked
after Children continue, to ensure cross over around children going missing and at risk of child sexual
exploitation, of which 25% are identified pan-Dorset as being LAC.
We have been represented at national and regional groups for looked after children and the three
local corporate parenting Boards. Regular reporting processes have been used through the CCG to
inform the overarching Health and Wellbeing Boards for Bournemouth and Poole and Dorset. The
action plan following the CQQ inspection of health services for LAC and safeguarding children within
the Local Authority area of Dorset County Council has been fully implemented.
We have received recognition by NHS England - South (Wessex) and a request to share good practice
across the region, for the proactive work undertaken by the CCG in recognising and implementing
effective pathways in meeting the differing health needs for unaccompanied asylum seeking children
being placed in Dorset.
We have experienced some challenges with undertaking initial health assessments within the
statutory timeframe, particularly for looked after children within the Dorset County Council area.
However, this is now improving and on track to be achieved during 2017/18. Quality assurance of
the initial health assessment (IHAs) has shown an improvement in outcomes for assessing children’s
health needs when they enter care. NHS England – South (Wessex) has recognised the improved
model and outcomes as good practice and has requested the support of the CCG’s Designated Nurse
to lead on one of their priorities, to audit existing practice of IHAs across Wessex and share the
Dorset model with the aim of improved outcomes and consistency across the region.
The profile mapping included hearing the voices of looked after children and care leavers who told
us that they valued the specialist services commissioned for looked after children. However, there
was a clear message that these were under resourced and difficult to access in a timely way. A
business case was subsequently agreed, resulting in a significant investment to commission an
increased nursing and skill mix workforce. This will ensure the physical, emotional and mental health
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needs of the looked after children and care leavers population across Dorset are being met. The
focus for quality assurance of this new service will be crucial for 2017/18.
CARE HOMES
Quality assurance visits are undertaken collaboratively with the three local authorities to a range of
independent care providers including care homes with nursing, domiciliary agencies, learning
disability residential homes and supported living providers. The team use a computer based care
home quality assurance tool on the visits and has used a single agency monitoring approach
successfully with one of the local authorities. The results of the evaluation of this have been shared
with both Safeguarding Adults Boards and Joint Commissioning Board.
The updated procedure for the management of the closure of a care home has been agreed with
each of the local authorities and published as a Pan Dorset Document. This now reflects the multiagency approach taken in the event of the closure of a care home in Dorset.
A fourth annual Care Home Managers’ Conference was delivered in November 2016 in collaboration
with Skills for Care on the theme of ‘Living well in older age’. The area of frailty and supporting
people to live well in their own homes, including care homes, is a key area of work within the CCG
through the Integrated Community and Primary Care Services programme.
The CCG has been working with the Thames Valley and Wessex NHS Leadership Academy who have
agreed to fund and run two pilot leadership courses for care home managers in Dorset. This will be a
valuable opportunity for leaders in independent care services to work together on improvement
projects and gain a better insight into their individual leadership style as well as how their role fits
into the wider health and care system. The pilots will be evaluated with a view to seeking funding to
support on-going cohorts for the course.
The Care Homes Quality Team have supported improvement in a number of areas including:
management and prevention of pressure ulcers, safe swallowing assessments, end of life care,
dementia care including meaningful activity, understanding of the Mental Capacity Act, safe delivery
of home oxygen, care planning and safe staffing levels.
CONTINUING HEALTHCARE
The continued demands of NHS funded continuing healthcare and funded nursing care with regard
to quality care provision, cost effectiveness and increasing demand remain a challenge. However,
with the continued support and close working within the Quality Directorate this year, the
continuing healthcare team are in a good position to meet this challenge.
Since January 2016, the children’s continuing healthcare team has been working within the
directorate as part of the main continuing healthcare team, and work has continued this year to
integrate these services with those of the adult team. The panel process has been streamlined,
ensuring that timely decisions are reached for all applications.
The previously unassessed periods of care (PUPOC) project was completed by 31 December 2016,
within the timeframe set by NHS England. A further announcement is expected in 2017; however
over the course of the current project Dorset CCG has undertaken work to ensure it is well
positioned to meet the new demands well.
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Work continues with the three local authorities in order to ensure more integrated and joint working
arrangements are in place to help meet the rising demand on all health and social care services. In
conjunction with this, the continuing healthcare team are working closely with the acute hospitals to
ensure timely interventions and assessments are in place to meet the delayed transfer of care
challenges faced by all agencies.
In April 2016 the Department of Health announced a 40% increase in the rates payable for funded
nursing care compared to the expected annual increase of 1%, and this increase led to a £3.8 million
cost pressure. However, due to the hard work within the team with regards to undertaking reviews
and ensuring only those patients eligible for funding received it, together with other initiatives, this
cost pressure has been met within the existing budget.
Although there continues to be an increase in referrals for continuing healthcare and end of life fast
track applications, adding to the pressures faced by the service, measures implemented over the
course of the year mean that the financial position at year end is within budget. This reflects both
the hard work within the continuing healthcare team, and the partnership working with the three
local authorities within the county of Dorset.
MEDICINES MANAGEMENT AND PRESCRIBING
In 2016/17 the medicines team continued to review and update the formulary with new and
updated sections. This includes a continence formulary developed through a multidisciplinary expert
group with Dorset Healthcare staff and CCG pharmacy technicians and pharmacists. In the area of
ophthalmology, a pan Dorset expert group has developed and agreed a number of additional
guidance documents to support cost effective and evidence based prescribing of ophthalmology
products. A group of specialist nurses, pharmacists and pharmacy technicians are developing
formulary and quantity guidance for ancillary products for patients with stomas, to prevent over
ordering and waste. A group of specialist consultants in palliative care and local GPs are developing
formulary guidance for prescribing in palliative care at home, including supporting the use of an
updated palliative care medicines administration chart.
The medicines team ensures that the CCG meets statutory responsibilities for making medicines with
a positive National Institute for Health and Care Excellence technical appraisal (NICE TA) available to
services that the CCG commissions within 90 days of publishing. During 2016/17, 12 relevant
medicines received a positive NICE TA.
Dorset CCG achieved national priority measures for the safer use of antibiotics through reductions in
prescribing of all antibiotics, as well as specific antibiotics known to cause problems with resistance.
The medicines team undertook 120 visits to member practices in the CCG to advise on safe and cost
effective prescribing, benchmarking, as well as supporting the medicines and prescribing agenda at
locality level. Specific safety promotion items for 2016/17 include development of a safety card for
the newer anticoagulant drugs, advice to reduce prescribing of drugs with a poor evidence or safety
base and on-going promotion of generic prescribing as first line where appropriate to improve cost
effectiveness.
In ensuring that medicines that are prescribed are adequately monitored and used safely, practices
have been encouraged to download the PINCER tool to identify patients that are at risk, and manage
their prescribing accordingly. This is one of a number of best practice medicines optimisation
activities that practices are embracing to improve quality in prescribing.
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A number of practices have benefitted from employing pharmacists to support their work in
managing repeat prescribing systems and running clinics to improve medicines optimisation and
formulary adherence. This includes a group of practices that were successful in getting NHS England
part funding for a pilot of clinical pharmacists in GP practices. Learning from these practices will
inform future workforce plans for pharmacists taking a greater role in this area.
In partnership with NHS England - South (Wessex), selected community pharmacies in Dorset have
been commissioned to provide urgent repeat medicines to allow direct referral from the out of
hours services and help them to get to urgent care calls.
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides members of the public with a general right of access
to recorded information held by us, subject to certain conditions and exemptions. This includes, but
is not limited to, how we commission services, how much they cost and our targets and results.
Anyone can request information recorded and held by us, and by law we must respond to the
requests. We are committed to the disclosure of information requested under the Freedom of
Information (FOI) Act. This is in line with our open and honest approach to dealing with requests for
information, and also our responsibility as a public organisation.
The Information Governance Group monitors performance in relation to responding to FOI requests
in order to maintain and improve compliance with national legal requirements and CCG guidelines.
The compliance rate with the statutory timeframe for FOI responses (within 20 working days) was
94% in 2016/17.
Table 7: Freedom of information

Year
2016/17
2015/16

Freedom of Information request responses
No. of requests received
No. responded to by timescale
336
316
318
302

%
94%
95%

We are required to proactively publish and maintain a Publication Scheme. This sets out key
documents we have published under the classifications outlined by the Information Commissioner’s
Office. This is available via our website at the following link:
http://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/publication-scheme.htm
We have also received 11 requests under the Data Protection Act 1998 and Access to Health Records
Act 1990, 10 of which were responded to within the statutory timescales.
NHS CONSTITUTION
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients, public and staff. It outlines NHS commitments as
well as the responsibilities that the public, patients and staff owe to one another to ensure that the
NHS operates fairly and effectively. The rights are underpinned by a series of pledges, one of which
is that patients have the right to access NHS services, and will not be refused access on unreasonable
grounds.
The CCG aims to commission services in a way that sets out clearly what patients, the public and
staff can expect from the NHS and in return, what the NHS expects from them. A working group
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within the CCG has identified lots of good practice within the organisation which demonstrates
consideration to the Constitution’s principles, values, rights and pledges.
The CCG monitors performance against the Constitution access targets throughout the year, and this
performance is reported to the Quality Group and the Governing Body. Further information on our
work to promote the NHS Constitution can be seen on page 8. (This is for the statistics
demonstrating the NHS Constitution Standards 2016/17 year end performance).
INFORMATION GOVERNANCE
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust systems and processes in place to help
protect patient and corporate information. We are committed to ensuring that all paper-based and
electronic confidential data for patients, staff and the CCG are handled in accordance with the Data
Protection Act 1998 and other related legislation.
In the NHS, the term used to describe the set of controls for assuring that personal confidential data
is handled in a secure and confidential manner is ‘information governance’ and every year the CCG’s
compliance with information governance standards is assessed through the annual NHS Information
Governance Toolkit. The annual submission process provides assurances to the CCG, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently
and effectively.
Responsibility for information governance rests with the Accountable Officer who has delegated
authority to the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Caldicott Guardian and the Information
Governance Group (IGG). The SIRO is a Governing Body level officer responsible for information
security and the associated management processes. The Caldicott Guardian is the Director of
Nursing and Quality who works with a nominated GP, responsible for ensuring that all flows of
patient information is justified and secure. The IGG meets on a bi-monthly basis and reports to the
Audit and Quality Committee.
The CCG takes its IG responsibilities seriously and has a range of measures to manage and mitigate
information risks, including annual mandatory staff training, physical security, data encryption,
access controls and departmental spot checks. IG policies and procedures have been reviewed and
updated, and an assessment of IG arrangements has been made through completion of the IGT, with
the CCG reaching the required level in all requirements. This assessment has been supported with a
review of key requirements by the internal auditors. The CCG continues be an Accredited Safe Haven
(ASH) which means that Dorset CCG provides a safe environment for the processing of information
containing NHS numbers.
Further information can be found in our Governance Statement on pages 65.
INVOLVING PATIENTS AND THE PUBLIC IN SHAPING HEALTH SERVICES
We are committed to putting the views of local people at the heart of the NHS and to making sure
that they are included as equal partners in the planning of local services.
To ensure this happens we have a tried and tested process for public participation and engagement.
This process has been developed in line with national guidance, good practice and our Duty to
Involve. It includes a number of stages to promote a continuous cycle of meaningful engagement:
audience analysis, representation, gathering insight, communication planning, engagement/
consultation on proposed changes and equality impact assessment. The process is reviewed
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regularly to take account of changes to policy and national guidance and is available on our website:
www.dorsetsvision.nhs.uk
We are determined to put patients and the public at the heart of everything we do. We are keen to
be responsive to the wishes and needs of the people of Dorset. Participation helps us to understand
people’s needs, improve access to services and reduce inequalities in health.
2016/17 was a particularly busy one for public engagement and participation. We carried out and
completed two formal public consultations: one on far-reaching proposals to make changes to both
acute hospitals and services in the community, and the other a more targeted consultation regarding
proposals to improve services for people who experience serious mental illness. Each of these
involved high levels of public engagement and resulted in good response rates from members of the
public and our key stakeholders. Having taken on responsibility for commissioning GP services, the
CCG has also begun to support and facilitate practice level patient engagement and will strengthen
this further in 2017/18.
Key engagement activities include:
•
•
•

pre-consultation engagement on proposed changes to services based at 13 community
hospitals;
formal public consultation on the clinical services review;
formal public consultation on proposals to improve services for people with serious mental
illness, known as the Mental Health Acute Care Pathway (MHACP).

For more detailed information on our involving patients and the public see the Annual Report on
Patient and Public Participation (1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017) on our website.
FRIENDS AND FAMILY TEST
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) continues to be collected across acute, community and GP
services. The FFT is an important tool that supports obtaining feedback from people using NHS
services.
The feedback across Dorset remains consistently good with high levels of satisfaction reported in
emergency departments, inpatient services, maternity services and outpatient units.
Table 8: Friends and family test

A&E responses

Inpatients

Outpatients

Ambulance See and Treat
Community Providers
Maternity
Mental Health
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Provider Name
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
South Western Ambulance
Dorset HealthCare
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Dorset HealthCare

Percentage likely to recommend
92%
89%
93%
99%
99%
98%
93%
97%
96%
100%
97%
100%
100%
95%
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COMPLAINTS
We value all complaints and other forms of feedback, as these are vital to continuously improve the
quality of local health services. They help us to manage our performance and highlight any areas
where closer monitoring may be needed.
As well as providing a response to the individual complainants all lessons learned from complaints
are reviewed with a view to making changes in practice, systems and processes, to improve the
future experience for everybody. This is facilitated by the CCG Concerns, Resolution and Learning
Group.
To ensure that complaints are viewed and monitored at the highest level the:
•
•

CCG Chief Officer reviews all complaints responses;
Audit and Quality Committee receive regular reports detailing complaints received and how
they have been handled.

The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line with current
legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes adopting the principles as
outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints
handling, principles of good administration and principles of remedy.
Under the NHS Constitution every person has a number of rights regarding making a complaint
about NHS Services. This includes taking their complaint to the Parliamentary and Health
Ombudsman if they are not satisfied with the way the complaint has been dealt with.
The Professional Practice Lead has continued to work with local health service providers to
continuously improve complaints handling. Maintaining an overview of complaints received,
supporting and advising improvement of how they are handled and responded to.
During the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 in total 183 complaints were received. Of these 104
related to the CCG and 79 to providers of services. A Complaints Annual Report will be available
from early August 2017 and published on our website after it has been received by the Governing
Body.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Standard report format, produced by the Sustainability Development Unit. Figures are as provided by
NHS Property Services Limited, unless available from the CCG’s own records. Where there are nil
values, no figures have been provided to the CCG.
INTRODUCTION
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a way
that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure healthcare
services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural
resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental
and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the
context of the rising cost of natural resources. Spending money well and considering the social and
environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012).
In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, NHS Dorset CCG has the following
sustainability mission statement located in our sustainable development management plan (SDMP):
"Sustainable, Resilient, Healthy People and Places"
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the
level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social
care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by
2020. It is our aim to supersede this target by reducing our carbon emissions 10% by using 2009/10
as the baseline year.
MODELLED CARBON FOOTPRINT
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we commission.
Therefore, the following information uses a scaled model based on work performed by the
Sustainable Development Unit (SDU) in 2014/15. More information is available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx
There is an estimated total carbon footprint of 243,383 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we commission.
Table 9: CO2 emissions

Category
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Figure 3: Proportions of carbon footprint

% CO2e

Energy

0%

Travel

0%

Procurement

11%

Commissioning

89%
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Figure 4: Carbon footprint with climate change targets

POLICIES
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our process
and procedures sustainability features.
Table 10: Sustainability areas

Area

Is sustainability considered?

Commissioning (environmental)

No

Commissioning (social impact)

Yes

Suppliers' impact

Yes

Business Cases

No

Travel

Yes

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an SDMP.
An update to our SDMP is required because it has not been approved by the board in the last 12
months.
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool. The last time we used
the GCC self-assessment was in 30 September 2014, scoring 0.32. As an organisation that
acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, we help achieve that goal by
running awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability to our staff.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the healthcare
estates, but also to patient health. Examples in recent years include the effects of heat waves,
extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our board approved
plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery of the organisation's activities and
infrastructure to climate change and adverse weather events.
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We have not assessed the social and environmental impacts for the CCG.
See page 55 for our statement on Modern Slavery Act.
NHS Dorset CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement has been developed for the financial year ending 31 March 2018 and is available on our
website.
PARTNERSHIPS
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract mechanisms to
deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy framework already sets the
scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG,
evidence of this commitment will need to be provided in part through contracting mechanisms.
Strategic partnerships are already established with the following organisations: Local Councils and
Provider Organisations. For commissioned services here is the sustainability comparator for our
providers:
Table 11: Provider sustainability comparator

Organisation Name

SDMP

On track for 34% reduction

GCC

Healthy
travel
plan

Adaptation

SD
Reporting
score

Dorset County Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

Yes

2. Target included but not on
track to be met

Yes

No

Yes

Good

Dorset Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

4. No Sustainable Development
Management Plan or Carbon
reduction Plan

No

No

No

Poor

Poole Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

2. Target included but not on
track to be met

Yes

No

No

Good

The Royal Bournemouth
and Christchurch
Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust

Yes

1. On track to meet target

No

Yes

Yes

Excellent

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx
PERFORMANCE
Organisation
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the
level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social
care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by
2020. It is our aim to supersede this target by reducing our carbon emissions 10% by using 2009/10
as the baseline year. Here's how we have done.
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COMMISSIONED ACTIVITY
Table 12: Commissioned activity

Organisation Name

Building
energy use

Building
energy
use per
FTE

Water

Water use
per FTE

Percent high
cost waste

Waste cost
increase

Dorset County Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

0-10%
increase

3.1

0-20%
increase

33

>97% high
cost

0-20%
decrease

Dorset Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust

0-10%
increase

2.1

>20%
increase

26

<=75% high
cost

>20% increase

Poole Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
The Royal Bournemouth
and Christchurch
Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust

0-10%
decrease

2.9

0-20%
decrease

30

>97% high
cost

0-20%
increase

>10%
increase

4.2

0-20%
decrease

31

>75% high
cost

>20% increase

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx
TRAVEL
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active
travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the services we
commission.
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the board for
cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to improve staff wellbeing
and reduce sickness.
Table 13: Staff travel

Category
Business Travel
Staff commute

Mode
miles

2013/14
521,242

2014/15
610,116

2015/16
551,825

2016/17
521,670

tCO2e

180.34

207.41

190.22

175.93

miles

225,859

256,485

262,739

292,028

tCO2e

83.45

94.24

95.02

105.54

Performance
The introduction of technology to facilitate communications (e.g. Skype, Video Conferencing) has
resulted in a reduction in business miles travelled. Miles travelled in staff vehicles have reduced and
there has been a small increase in the use of pool cars which are purchased to ensure low CO2e. This
reduction in travel has occurred in a year when the CCG held a significant amount of public
engagement events out in localities to support its Clinical Services Review. Plans are in place to
expand the use of technology to support further reductions in travel.
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ENERGY
NHS Dorset CCG has spent £58,276 on energy in 2016/17, which is a 186.4% increase on energy
spend from last year.
Table 14: Energy

Resource
Gas
Oil
Coal
Electricity
Green
Electricity

2013/14

Use (kWh)

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

43,421

35,268

51,119

99,283

tCO2e

9

7

11

21

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

202,854

201,541

122,944

256,089

114

125

71

132

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

123

132

81

153

Use (kWh)
tCO2e

Total Energy CO2e
Total Energy Spend

£26,376

£28,266

£20,350

£58,276

Figure 5: Carbon emissions – energy use

Performance
The variation in usage is attributable to improved recording and assignment of consumption to the
organisations who co-occupy the buildings the CCG leases. It is anticipated that the CCG will be able
to make a more meaningful comparison on performance in 2018/19.
0% of our electricity use comes from renewable sources.
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Commentary
The CCG has a high level of confidence that the initiatives it has taken to reduce energy consumption
will show a reduction in future years. These initiatives include the use of low energy lighting,
printers and computers with automatic sleep modes, active monitoring and regulation of building
temperatures and movement from local server storage to cloud-based solutions.
WASTE
Table 15: Waste

Waste
Recycling/
reuse
Other
Landfill

2013/14

(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e
(tonnes)
tCO2e

Total Waste (tonnes)

2014/15

2015/16
0

115

115

0.00

0.00

2.30

2.42

0

0

0

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0

0

155

156

0.00

0.00

37.88

48.21

0

0

270

271

43%

43%

40.18

50.62

% Recycled or Re-used
Total Waste tCO2e

2016/17

0

0.00

0.00

Figure 6: Waste breakdown

Weight (tonnes)

Waste Breakdown
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

Recycling/
reuse
Other

Landfill

Performance
Recycling figures remain static as the main source of recycled waste within the CCG is paper. The
introduction of laptops and follow-me printing has resulted in a 61.5% reduction in paper costs (and
therefore consumption) and it is anticipated that the deployment of other technological solutions
will continue to have a positive impact in this area.
Commentary
The CCG actively encourages the recycling of waste with frequent reminders of how this can be
achieved in the Staff Weekly Bulletin and use of technology is encourage to further improve
communication and reduce waste.
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FINITE RESOURCE USE – WATER
Table 16: Water

Water
Mains

2013/14
m

3

tCO2e

Water & Sewage Spend

£ -

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

580

538

962

2,304

0.53

0.49

0.88

2.10

£

-

£ -

£ -

Performance
The variation in consumption against previous years is attributable to more accurate recording and
assignment of usage to the companies who co-occupy the buildings the CCG is based in. More
meaningful comparison will be able to be made in future years.
Commentary
The CCG continues to support Landlords to adopt resource limiting measures such as automatic taps
and dual flush mechanisms in WCs.
BENCHMARKING
The CCG is responsible for commissioning services for the entire County of Dorset which consists of
the major conurbations of Bournemouth and Poole and large rural areas not particularly well served
by public transport. The current review of clinical services seeks to provide services closer to users'
homes which (in addition to the clinical benefits) will reduce travel and improve usage of health
service assets.
Figure 7: Organisation carbon footprint by head of population

GOOD CORPORATE CITIZEN
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool.
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ADAPTATION
Events such as heat waves, cold snaps and flooding are expected to increase as a result of climate
change. To ensure that the CCG would continue to meet the needs of our local population during
such events we have developed and implemented a number of policies and protocols in partnership
with other local agencies these include:
On our staff website there are individual pages on:
•
•
•
•

Business Continuity Plans
National Heat Wave Plans
Cold weather advice
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

We also send out communication messages via various media to the public and staff as appropriate.
[Signature required]
Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
xx May 2017
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1

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

2

This section relates to the key accountability requirements.

3

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

4

MEMBERS REPORT

5
6

Our CCG consists of 94 member general practices, which are grouped into 13 geographical localities
within three clusters of East, Mid and West Dorset. Member practices can be seen below.

7

Table 17: Member Practices

Cluster
East Cluster

Locality
North
Bournemouth
Locality

Central
Bournemouth
Locality

East
Bournemouth
Locality

Christchurch

West Cluster

49

West Dorset

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Practices
Alma Partnership, Bournemouth
Banks and Bearwood Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Durdells Avenue Surgery, Bournemouth
Kinson Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Leybourne Surgery, Bournemouth
Northbourne Surgery, Bournemouth (merged with Talbot 1.1.17)
Talbot Medical Centre, Bournemouth (merged with Northbourne
1.1.17)
Village Surgery, Poole
Denmark Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Holdenhurst Road Surgery, Bournemouth (merged with Shelley
Manor 1.1.17)
James Fisher Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Moordown Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Panton Practice, Bournemouth
St Albans Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Woodlea House Surgery, Bournemouth
Beaufort Road Surgery, Bournemouth
Boscombe Manor Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Crescent Surgery, Bournemouth (merged with Providence 1.12.16)
Littledown Surgery, Bournemouth
Providence Surgery, Bournemouth (merged with Crescent 1.12.16)
Shelley Manor Medical Centre, Bournemouth (merged with
Holdenhurst 1.1.17)
Southbourne Surgery, Bournemouth
Barn Surgery, Christchurch
Burton Medical Centre, Christchurch
Farmhouse Surgery, Christchurch
Grove Surgery, Christchurch
Highcliffe Medical Centre, Christchurch
Marine and Oakridge Partnership, Bournemouth/Christchurch
Orchard Surgery, Christchurch
Stour Surgery, Christchurch
Barton House Surgery, Beaminster
Bridport Medical Centre, Bridport
Charmouth Medical Practice, Charmouth
Lyme Bay Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
Lyme Regis Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
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Mid Dorset

North Dorset

Weymouth and
Portland

Mid Cluster

East Dorset

Poole Bay

Poole Central

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Portesham Practice, Portesham
Tollerford Practice, Maiden Newton
The Atrium Health Centre, Dorchester
Cerne Abbas Surgery, Cerne Abbas
Poundbury Doctors Surgery, Dorchester
Fordington Surgery, Dorchester
Prince of Wales Surgery, Dorchester
Puddletown Surgery, Puddletown
Queens Avenue, Dorchester
Milton Abbas Practice, Milton Abbas
Blackmore Vale Partnership
Apples Medical Centre, Sherborne
Bute House Surgery, Sherborne
Eagle House Surgery, Blandford
Gillingham Medical Centre, Gillingham
Newland Surgery, Sherborne
Stalbridge Surgery, Stalbridge
Whitecliff Surgery, Blandford
Yetminster Surgery, Yetminster
Abbotsbury Road Surgery, Weymouth
Bridges Medical Centre, Weymouth
Cross Road Surgery, Weymouth
Dorchester Road Surgery, Weymouth
Lanehouse Surgery, Weymouth
Royal Crescent Surgery, Weymouth
Royal Manor Surgery, Portland
The Practice Plc, Weymouth
Wyke Regis Surgery, Weymouth
Cranborne Surgery, Wimborne
Old Dispensary, Wimborne
Orchid House Surgery, Ferndown
Penny's Hill Surgery, Ferndown
Quarter Jack Surgery, Wimborne
Trickett's Cross Surgery, Ferndown
Verwood Surgery, Verwood
Walford Mill Surgery, Wimborne
West Moors Group Practice, West Moors
Heatherview Medical Centre, Poole
Herbert Avenue, Poole
Lilliput Surgery, Poole
Madeira Medical Centre, Poole (to merge with Parkstone 1.4.17)
Parkstone Health Centre, Poole (to merge with Madeira 1.4.17)
Poole Road Medical Centre, Poole
Wessex Road Surgery, Poole
Westbourne Medical Centre, Poole
Village Surgery, Bournemouth (retirement)
Adam Practice, Poole
Carlisle House Surgery, Poole
Dr Newman's Surgery, Poole
Evergreen Oak Surgery, Poole
Longfleet House Surgery, Poole
Poole Town Surgery, Poole
Rosemary Medical Centre, Poole
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Poole North

Purbeck

8

•
•
•
•

Birchwood Medical Centre, Poole
Canford Heath Group Practice, Poole
Hadleigh Practice, Poole
Harvey Practice, Poole

•
•
•
•
•
•

Bere Regis Surgery, Bere Regis
Corfe Castle Surgery, Corfe Castle
Sandford Surgery, Wareham
Swanage Medical Centre, Swanage
The Wellbridge Surgery, Wool
Wareham Surgery, Wareham
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9
10
11

Our Governing Body is made up of 13 GP Locality Chairs, a Chair, an Accountable Officer, a Chief
Finance Officer, three Lay Members, one Nurse Lead and one Secondary Care Doctor Lead. Our Chair
is Dr Forbes Watson and the Accountable Officer is Tim Goodson.

12
13
14
15
16

The Governing Body has a responsibility to ensure there are appropriate healthcare services for the
people of Dorset. All GP practices belong to a locality, which is a geographical area, and each locality
has a GP Chair who is a member of the CCG Governing Body. Composition of our Governing Body
throughout the year and up to the signing of this annual report and accounts can be seen in Table
18.

17

Table 18: Governing Body Membership and term of office

Term of Office
Name

Role

Date Appointed

Expiry Date

Dr Forbes Watson
Tim Goodson
Paul Vater
Dr Peter Blick
Dr Jenny Bubb
Dr Colin Davidson
Dr Nick Evans
Dr David Haines

Chair
Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Mid Dorset
Locality Chair for East Dorset
Locality Chair for Poole Bay
Locality Chair for Purbeck

1 April 2013
1 April 2013
1 April 2013
1 August 2013
1 April 2013
1 April 2013
1 April 2016
1 October 2013

31 March 2016
On-going
On-going
31 July 2016
31 March 2016
31 March 2016
31 March 2019
30 September 2016

Dr Karen Kirkham

Locality Chair for Weymouth and
Portland and Assistant Clinical Chair
Locality Chair for North Bournemouth
Locality Chair for West Dorset
Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Poole North
Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Christchurch

1 April 2013

31 March 2016

1 September 2013
1 April 2013
1 April 2016
1 August 2015
1 April 2016
1 January 2015

31 August 2016
31 March 2016
31 March 2019
31 July 2018
31 March 2019
31 December 2017

Locality Chair for Poole Central
Locality Chair for North Dorset
Registered Nurse Member
Registered Nurse Member
Lay Member Lead for Governance
Lay Member Lead for Patient and
Public Involvement and Deputy CCG
Chair

1 October 2015
1 April 2016
1 April 2013
1 July 2016
1 April 2013
1 April 2013

30 September 2018
31 March 2019
30 June 2016
30 June 2019
31 March 2016
31 March 2016

Dr Tom Knight
Dr Blair Millar
Dr Ni’man Mufeed
Dr David Richardson
Dr Ben Sharland
Dr Stephen Tomkins
Dr Simon Watkins
Dr Simone Yule
Mary Monnington
Elaine Spencer
Teresa Hensman
David Jenkins

51

Re-elected/
re-appointed
1 April 2016

1 April 2016
1 April 2016
1 October
2016
1 April 2016

1 April 2016

Left 28 Feb
2017

1 April 2016
1 April 2016
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Jacqueline Swift
George Thomson

Lay Member Lead for Primary Care
Commissioning
Secondary Care Consultant Member

26 May 2015

25 May 2018

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

18
19
20

The Governing Body also has regular attendance from the Director of Nursing and Quality, Director
of Service Delivery, Director of Engagement and Development, Director of Design and
Transformation and the Secretary and General Counsel.

21
22
23
24
25

The Governing Body has three lay members who have non-clinical backgrounds (local government,
audit and commerce) who maintain an independence from the operations of the CCG to balance the
clinical contribution to the Governing Body and its Committees. Together with the two additional lay
members of the Audit and Quality Committee they provide independent critical challenge to the
managerial and clinical input.

26
27

Attendance records for the Governing Body and its committees for 2016/17 can be found on our
website.

28
29

The relationship between our Governing Body, committees and commissioning support services can
be seen in Figure 8 below.

30

Figure 8: Governance structure

31
32
33

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

34
35
36

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Jenkins, Deputy CCG Chair and Lay Member Lead
for Patient and Public Involvement. Further details of other members can be seen in the
remuneration report page 71.
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37
38

The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Remuneration Committee which
provides detail of the committee

39

The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2016/17 have been:

40
41
42
43
44

•

45

AUDIT AND QUALITY COMMITTEE

46
47

As part of the governance structure, we have in place an Audit and Quality Committee which is
responsible for providing the Governing Body with assurance across the range of CCG activities.

48
49
50

The Audit and Quality Committee is chaired by Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for Governance,
who has relevant and recent financial experience. Other members throughout the year and up to
the signing of this annual report and accounts (unless stated otherwise) can be seen below:

51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the committee reviewed the Directors’ performance and the performance of the Accountable
Officer together with recommendations for pay awards for Directors and the Accountable
Officer to the Governing Body;
the committee made recommendations to the Governing Body concerning the corporate and
Accountable Officer objectives, executive director resourcing plans.

Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member;
David Jenkins, Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement and Deputy CCG Chair;
Mary Monnington, Registered Nurse Member (left 30 June 2016);
Roger Davies, Independent Lay Member (until 4 October 2016);
Dr Simone Yule, Governing Body GP Member (appointed 1 April 2016);
Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member (appointed 1 February 2017);
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member (appointed 1 July 2016).

The Committee reviews its terms of reference and its effectiveness annually and recommends to the
Governing Body any changes required as a result of the review. In 2015/16, the Audit and Quality
Committee discharged its responsibilities by:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

53

reviewing and monitoring quality of commissioned service and outcomes for patients
reviewing and recommending the CCG’s draft financial statements and the external auditors
detailed reports thereon;
reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process;
reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process, taking into account relevant UK professional and regulatory
requirements;
reviewing the external auditors’ annual work plan, including its non-audit services and fees;
reviewing the risks associated with the CCG’s business and management thereon;
reviewing the policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption;
reviewing investigations as a result of the instigation of the CCG’s whistle blowing policy;
reviewing the CCG’s system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting to the Governing
Body on the results of the review and receiving regular updates on key processes for
management of the risks facing the CCG;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
reviewing the internal audit work programme, internal audit reports and periodic progress
reports on its work during the year;
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79
80
81
82
83

•

84
85

The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Audit and Quality Committee which
provides detail of the committee.

86

The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2016/17 have been:

87
88
89
90

•
•

91

PRIMARY CARE COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

92
93

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is chaired by Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member Lead of the
Primary Care Commissioning Committee.

94
95

The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Primary Care Commissioning Committee
which provides detail of the committee.

96

The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2016/17 have been:

reviewing governance and risk management arrangements to ensure appropriate processes are
in place, further information on this can be seen on page 58.

The Audit and Quality Committee has wide powers to establish special investigations in the event
that any wrongdoing is brought to its notice, in particular, in the case of defalcations, fraud or theft.

•

providing quality and audit assurance to the CCG;
providing approval by the Governing Body of revised Standard of Business Conduct (including
conflict of interests)
assurance on transformation and primary care commissioning.

97
98
99
100
101

•
•

102

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

103
104

The Clinical Commissioning Committee is chaired by Dr Forbes Watson, Chair of NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group.

105
106

The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Clinical Commissioning Committee
which provides detail of the committee

107

The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2016/17 have been:

108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115

•

•
•

•
•

taken full delegation from NHS England from 1 April 2016;
established the governance and practical arrangements required for a substantive committee to
add value to the work of the CCG;
incorporated a primary care perspective into the CCG’s commissioning activities;
approved the Primary Care Strategy.

continued clinical oversight and input into the Clinical Services Review and Clinical Reference
Groups;
approved a criteria based access procedure and protocols;
approved a multi-agency pressure ulcer strategy.
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116

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

117
118
119
120

Pursuant to our values of openness and honesty, it is a requirement that all member practices of the
CCG, Governing Body members, GPs who are paid to provide services to the CCG and all staff declare
any interests that they have that may conflict with the interests of the CCG itself. These can be found
on our website.

121

DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL RELATED DATA INCIDENTS

122
123
124

We have in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of level 2 Information
Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. Further information is available in our
Governance Statement pages 65 to 66.

125

GOVERNING BODY, LAY MEMBERS AND SENIOR MANAGER PROFILES

126
127

Profiles, detailing professional backgrounds, of the following, who have been in post during 2016/17
can be found on our website:

128
129
130

•
•
•

131

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS

132

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved confirms:

133
134
135
136
137

•

138

MODERN SLAVERY ACT

•

Governing Body profiles;
Lay Members profiles;
Senior management team profiles.

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor
is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware
of it.

139
140
141
142

NHS Dorset CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human
Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

143
144

Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement has been developed for the financial year ending
31 March 2018 and is available on our website.

145
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146

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

147
148
149
150

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group
shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning
Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.

151
152
153

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:

154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167

•

168
169
170
171
172

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the
basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis
and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of
its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.

173
174
175

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in particular
to:

176
177
178
179
180
181
182

•

183
184
185

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

•
•
•
•

•

•
•
•

the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable;
for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the
accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction);
for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities);
the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money;
ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance
with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to
securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended));
ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting Manual
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and,
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

186
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187

I also confirm that:

188
189
190
191
192
193
194

•

195

[Signature to be inserted]

196
197
198
199

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
xx May 2017

•

57

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are
unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken
to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors
are aware of that information;
that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I
take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.
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200
201

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

202

INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT

203
204

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April
2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

205
206
207
208
209

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) statutory functions are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for
persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to
arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.

210
211

As at 1 April 2016, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions from NHS
England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

212

SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

213
214
215
216
217
218

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities
as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

219
220
221
222

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently and
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial
propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

223

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND EFFECTIVENESS

224
225
226
227

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and
complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it. This is in
line with the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b).

228
229
230
231
232

The Membership has retained the power to make changes to its core constitution but has delegated
the majority of the decision making functions to the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body
has, in turn, delegated some decision making to the organisation’s committees. Further information
relating to the delegated responsibility to each of the committees is detailed in the Annual Report
and Accounts 2016/17 and terms of reference (see pages 52 to 54).

233
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234

COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

235
236
237
238

We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available,
including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the
Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

239
240
241

From 1 April 2016 and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG has complied with the
provisions set out in the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group’s Code of Governance and applied the
principles of the Code.

242
243
244
245

New governance structures have been introduced which take into account the transformation work
streams under the Sustainability and Transformation plans, which will be instrumental in the design,
engagement, commissioning and delivery of new services, including services impacting on primary
care providers.

246
247

‘Declarations of interest’ is a standing agenda item at all CCG meetings. All declarations are
recorded and, where any conflict of interest is identified, appropriate action is taken. (See page 55)

248
249
250
251
252
253

Under the comply or explain principle, the CCG does not comply with Statutory Guidance issued
regarding conflicts of interest and voting rights in respect of GPs on the Primary Care Commissioning
Committee. We believe that having two classes of members, one with and one without voting rights
would be detrimental to good governance. We have instead introduced a presumption that GPs will
be conflicted from voting or participation in discussion on papers presented to the Committee unless
they declare that they are not conflicted.

254

DISCHARGE OF STATUTORY FUNCTION

255

I can confirm that the correct arrangements are in place for the discharge of statutory functions.

256
257
258
259

During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the UK
Corporate Governance Code were developed with extensive expert external legal input to ensure
compliance with all the relevant legislation. The legal advice also informed the matters reserved for
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of delegation.

260
261
262
263
264
265

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of
the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.

266
267
268

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates
have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all
of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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269

RISK MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND EFFECTIVENESS

270
271
272

To enable the effective use of Governing Body time the CCG’s risk appetite is being further refined to
enable the Governing Body to consider an exception based reporting the decisions, thereby
permitting the Governing Body to focus on critical issues.

273
274
275
276

Every activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf, brings with
it an element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the organisation achieving its
strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can affect people, assets, the organisation and reputation and
ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.

277
278

The process of appropriately managing identified risk helps the CCG achieve agreed standards,
reduce overall costs and maintain and enhance the standard of service provided.

279
280

The CCG is not aiming to create a risk-free environment, but rather one in which risk is considered as
a matter of course and appropriately identified, controlled and managed.

281
282

In order to achieve this aim, risk management must be part of the culture of the CCG and a primary
concern of all staff and stakeholders.

283
284
285
286

A Risk Management Framework was approved and endorsed by the shadow Governing Body in
December 2012 ready for use in April 2013 to reflect the CCG’s risk management requirements; the
Framework was been updated and approved by the Directors in May 2015, with a review date of
May 2017.

287

The Risk Management Framework:

288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298

•
•
•
•
•

299
300

In relation to risk management the Governing Body membership and executive team are responsible
for:

301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308

•
•
•

•
•

•
•
•

standardises and clarifies the terminology of risk management;
sets out the organisation’s objective to identify, treat and mitigate risk;
explains the roles and responsibilities within the CCG relating to risk;
defines the role and objectives of the CCG’s committees and groups;
clearly explains the tools (Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework)
used by the CCG to document and manage risks to the organisation, detailing the clear,
consistent and effective risk scoring systems used;
details how the organisation has a clear view of the risks affecting each area of its activity, how
the risks are being managed and their potential impact on the organisational objectives;
assures the public, patients and their carers and representatives, staff and partner organisations
that the CCG is committed to managing risk appropriately.

articulating the organisation’s strategic objectives;
identifying risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives;
protecting the reputation of the CCG; providing leadership, active involvement and support for
risk management;
determining the risk appetite for the CCG;
ensuring the approach to risk management is consistently applied;
ensuring that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk throughout the
CCG and that this structure is consistently applied;
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309
310
311

•

312
313

The CCG ensures that risk management is embedded in all aspects of the work of the organisation.
Examples include:

•

monitoring these processes on an on-going basis via the Governing Body Assurance Framework
and Corporate Risk Register;
reviewing and approving the Risk Management Framework on a biennial basis.

314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324

•

325
326

The CCG is committed to ensuring that public stakeholders are involved in managing risks which
impact on them. Examples include:

327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341

•

•

•

•
•

Equality Impact Assessments: The CCG is committed to ensuring a reduction in health
inequalities and places the needs of Dorset communities at the heart of all commissioning
functions. ‘Equality analysis’ is undertaken when commissioning services, making changes to
services, using information within services and within the policies that are used.
Additionally, the CCG publishes an annual ‘Equality and Diversity report’ which
acknowledges the organisation’s successes in relation to equality and diversity, as well as
making recommendations for improvement;
Incident Reporting: Incident and serious incident reporting is openly encouraged from all
staff, GP practices and the provider organisations that are commissioned by the CCG. This
information is analysed and used to identify any risks which may impact in the business of
the CCG.

lay representatives regularly attend the Governing Body, the Quality Group, Transformation
Quality Assurance Group and Audit and Quality Committee to ensure there is a voice for
patients and the public;
information on “the need to change” in Dorset is being widely communicated on an ongoing basis to the public and other stakeholders – explaining why the NHS in Dorset needs to
change, what is being done and how people can be involved and have their say. This is
being communicated in accessible formats at public events, through presentations and Q&A
sessions, through newsletters, circulation of an information film etc;
patient and carer representatives are invited to take part in task and finish groups and
workshops hosted by the CCG’s Clinical Delivery Groups, bringing people into the room so
that local care pathways can be designed ‘with’ them rather than ‘for’ them;
the CCG has a Patient (Carer) Public Engagement Group comprising about 20 people with
lived experience across Dorset’s geography, demography and diversity – who meet on a
monthly basis and act as a critical friend – providing advice and feedback on proposed
service changes/developments.

342

CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK

343
344
345
346
347
348

The framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that are in place to
mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic objectives. Key controls
for which assurance cannot be fully detailed are highlighted in blue on the framework, with an
explanation of the work in progress to achieve assurance. Monthly updates are provided to the
Executive Team of the progress against achieving full assurance, with formal reports submitted to
every Governing Body and Audit and Quality Committee meeting.

349
350

This pro-active method of managing risk is a preventative approach to limit the risk exposure to the
organisation.
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351
352
353
354

The Corporate Risk Register is a risk management tool which acts as a central repository for all
current risks identified by the organisation. All risks are recorded and managed via the Ulysses
software ‘Safeguard Risk Management System’ and are mapped (where applicable) to the strategic
objectives of the CCG.

355
356
357
358
359

The CCG also actively deters risks through the adoption of robust counter-fraud methodology. All
clinical and non-clinical staff receives training on the identification of fraud within the CCG. In
addition, the CCG have a contract with Tiaa (as from 1.7.16) and previously with Secure (Fraud and
Security Solutions) to provide counter fraud and security management services that have an annual
work programme.

360
361
362

The CCG’s Executive Lead for fraud and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is responsible for
authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and prosecution of subjects and the
recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.

363
364

The CCG is able to assure itself of the validity of the Annual Governance Statement in a number of
ways. These are:

365
366
367
368
369
370

•
•

371
372
373

Leadership for the risk management process within the CCG is provided via the Governing Body, with
responsibility delegated to the Audit and Quality Committee. The organisational structure has been
established in order to assist with this process and is described in the following paragraphs.

374
375
376

All Directors are responsible for compliance with the Risk Management Framework to ensure that
remedial actions are identified and taken wherever key risks are identified within their area of
responsibility.

377
378
379

The Director of Quality and Nursing is the designated lead for risk and patient safety within the CCG,
and is responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management Framework is implemented and evaluated
effectively.

380
381
382
383

All Directors, Deputy Directors and Managers have delegated responsibility and authority with
regard to the management of risk within their specific areas of work, including compliance with the
Risk Management Framework and for ensuring that remedial action is taken wherever key risks are
identified within their area of responsibility, including:

384
385
386
387
388
389

•
•
•

•

•
•

adherence to the Risk Management Framework;
adherence to the CCG committee structure, Committee Terms of Reference and reporting
framework;
scrutiny of the draft Annual Governance Statement (this document) by members of the Audit
and Quality Committee prior to submission and sign off at the special meeting for closure of
finances in May 2017.

the reporting of adverse incidents, together with actions to prevent or minimise a reoccurrence;
identifying and adding risks to the Corporate Risk Register in a timely manner;
coordinating the application of resources to minimise, manage and control the likelihood
and/or impact of the risk;
undertaking risk assessments and actions implemented;
ensuring staff undertake mandatory and statutory training.

390
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391
392

The Head of Patient Safety and Risk, supported by the Patient Safety and Risk Manager has
delegated responsibility for:

393
394
395
396
397
398
399

•

400
401
402
403
404

The Patient Safety and Risk team within the CCG supports the consistent identification, assessment
and management of risk across the organisation and, as a team, are central to the dissemination and
application of best practice. Additionally the team administers the key administration and system
processes and acts as a central resource and advisory function in relation to risk and risk
management.

405
406
407

Plans are in place to enhance the risk training available to new and existing CCG employees through
the enhancement of key training and education programmes to ensure all staff learn through good
practice.

408
409

The cumulative contribution of the above mechanisms assists in the assurance of commissioning
services that ensure patient safety is high profile.

410

RISK ASSESSMENT

411
412
413
414

The CCG has continued to develop and embed its approaches to risk management as set out in the
Annual Governance Statement (2015/16). The CCG views integrated risk management as a key
element in the successful delivery of its business and remains committed to ensuring staff
throughout the organisation are equipped to assess, manage, escalate and report risks.

415
416
417
418
419
420
421

The CCG has clear governance structures with delegation of responsibility clearly articulated in the
terms of reference for committees and groups (as described on pages 52 to 54). All committees
review their effectiveness annually and there are clear lines of reporting from all committees and
groups to the Governing Body. The Governing Body through reports and updates reviews the quality,
performance and financial stewardship of the organisation. Any risks identified relating to these
areas have been recorded in the Corporate Risk Register and/or the Governing Body Assurance
Framework.

422
423
424

The CCG operates a ‘Declaration of Interest’ register and this is checked regularly; potential conflicts
of interest are taken into account in all aspects of the CCGs business. Declarations of interest are
recorded at every formal committee and group meeting.

425
426
427
428

The CCG operates a Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register that identify
the systems of internal control in place to efficiently, effectively and economically manage these
risks and provide assurance to the CCG and its organisation’s stakeholders that these systems are
present.

429
430
431

All risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register require the formulation of an action plan. A
member of the Patient Safety and Risk team meets with risk leads on a monthly or quarterly basis
(dependant on risk level) to record progress against action plans and documents the effect these are

•
•
•

63

co-ordinating and managing activities relating to clinical, corporate and financial risks for the
CCG;
monitoring risk management and patient safety within commissioned and corporate services
for the CCG;
maintaining the Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework through
engagement with the Directors and Directorate Risk Leads;
the management of all Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation and Adverse Incidents.
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432
433
434

having on the residual risk score. All action plans are formally reported via the Corporate Risk
Register. The document includes all risks that may impact on the achievement of the CCG’s
objectives.

435
436
437

The Governing Body receives regular assurance on the management of internal risks and assurance
both directly via regular reports including the full Governing Body Assurance Framework and
Corporate Risk Register and via assurance from the Audit and Quality Committee.

438
439

Risks are scored on a likelihood x consequence matrix to score the potential severity of a risk being
realised. Risks scored above 15 are categorised as high risk.

440
441
442

Reports are also received on a monthly basis by Directors summarising the top risks to the
organisation (those scoring over 15), new risks, closed risks and any other key risk issues. Directors
also review the full Corporate Risk Register at every meeting.

443
444
445

During 2016/17 a process has been developed to ensure an operational risk log is maintained for
each project. There is a clear route to escalate any of the risks identified on the log to the Corporate
Risk Register.

446
447
448

Between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, 25 risks were added to the Corporate Risk Register. Of
these 25 risks, 10 have been closed within the year. Of the remaining 15 open risks 6 are assessed as
high risk:

449
450
451
452

•
•
•
•

453
454

The outstanding risks in place on 31 March 2017 are carried over into the new financial year and will
continue to be managed within the Risk Management Framework described within this statement.

455
456

The risk profile of the CCG is subject to on-going in-year revision. At the end of the 2016/17 financial
year, there were 36 risks on the Corporate Risk Register.

457
458

As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there have been no significant lapses of protective
security.

459

THE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

460
461
462
463

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the Clinical
Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

464
465
466

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.

467
468
469

The Corporate Risk Register has controls described for every risk entry. The controls are reviewed on
a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on their risk level) along with progress for reducing the risk
to ensure they are still effective.

three relate to primary care capacity;
one relates to delays in initial health assessments for looked after children;
one relates to extension of existing contract for urgent care service;
one relates to funding for digitally transformed Dorset.
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470
471

The framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that are in place to
mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic objectives.

472

ANNUAL AUDIT OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST MANAGEMENT

473
474
475

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June 2016)
requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support
CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.

476
477
478

The annual internal audit of conflicts of interest was carried out January/February 2017 and
supported an overall assurance assessment of ‘reasonable assurance’. Our level of compliance on
the five areas as set by NHS England were as follows:

479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486

•
•

487

governance arrangements – fully compliant;
declarations of interests and gifts and hospitality – partially compliant; as at 31 March 2017
there are 32 members of staff including temporary and bank staff and those on long-term sick
and maternity who have not completed a declaration. 9 paid GPs and 21 practices have not
completed a declaration;
registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement decisions – partially compliant;
decision making processes and contract monitoring – fully compliant;
reporting concerns and identifying and managing breaches/non-compliance – fully compliant.

•
•
•

DATA QUALITY

488
489
490

The data used by the Governing Body and delegated Committees/groups is obtained from various
sources of which all are national systems. The Provider data is quality assured through contract and
performance monitoring and against the Secondary Uses Service (SUS) quality dashboard.

491

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE

492
493
494
495
496
497

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which the NHS
handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal identifiable information.
The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an information governance toolkit and
the annual submission process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently
and effectively.

498
499
500
501
502
503
504

The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance (IG) systems
and processes in place to manage data security risks and the protection of patient and corporate
information. Responsibility for IG rests with me, as Accountable Officer; I have delegated authority
to the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Caldicott Guardian and the Information
Governance Group (IGG). A range of measures are used to manage and mitigate information risks,
including annual mandatory staff training, physical security, data encryption, access controls and
departmental spot checks.

505
506
507
508
509

The CCG’s IG status is regularly reviewed by the IGG which is a standing group that reports to the
governing body via the Audit and Quality Committee. Its purpose is to support and drive the
broader IG agenda and provide assurance to the Governing Body that effective IG best practice
mechanisms are in place. Risks to information, including data security, confidentiality, integrity and
availability, are managed and controlled via this group which meets bi-monthly.
65

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
510
511
512

The SIRO has responsibility for leading and implementing the IG risk assessment and management
processes within the CCG in addition to advising the Governing Body on the effectiveness of
information risk management throughout the CCG.

513
514
515
516
517
518

As part of the annual IG Toolkit submission a comprehensive assessment of information security is
undertaken. Further assurance is provided from audit and other reviews. The effectiveness of these
measures is reported to, and monitored by, the IGG. This includes details of any personal data
related serious incidents, the CCG’s annual IG toolkit score and reports of other IG incidents and
audit reviews. Regular reports are received in relation to policies, the Caldicott risk register,
transition and records management.

519
520

There is a staff handbook in place to ensure that staff are aware of their roles and responsibilities
under IG and the Data Protection Act.

521
522
523
524

The CCG has self-assessed against the IG Toolkit and achieved the target of overall compliance of
Level 2 and above, with some criteria achieving Level 3. There has been an audit conducted on the
evidence used to support the submission. This has provided substantial assurance to the Governing
Body that there is a sound system of control in place.

525
526
527
528
529

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
Information risk assessment and management procedures have been established via the IGG, the
SIRO and the Risk Management Team. Work continually takes place to ensure that these are
embedded throughout the organisation. All incidents which have a data protection element are
investigated with lessons learnt shared via the IG Group.

530
531

There has been no serious breach of the Data Protection Act (Level 2 reportable) in 2016/17 which
required reporting to the Information Commissioners Office.

532
533

For further information on responding to Freedom of Information requests please see page 37 of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

534

BUSINESS CRITICAL MODELS

535
536
537
538
539

As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there is an appropriate financial and business framework
and environment in place to provide assurance of business critical models, in line with the
recommendation from the MacPherson report. These are overseen by the Governing Body and Audit
and Quality Committee. External assurance is received via external audit and quarterly assurance
meetings with NHS England.

540

THIRD PARTY ASSURANCES

541
542
543

Dorset CCG seeks third party assurances when a provider enters a sub-contracting arrangement.
The lead provider is then required to report on outcomes of the commissioned service including all
aspects of the sub contracted element of the service.

544
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545

CONTROL ISSUES

546

There were no significant control issues identified in 2016/17.

547

REVIEW OF ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE USE OF RESOURCES

548
549

There are procurement processes to which the CCG adheres. There is a scheme of delegation which
ensures that financial controls are in place across the organisation.

550
551

The roles of the accountable and delegated committees and groups are clearly articulated in pages
52 to 54 of this statement and the scheme of delegation has been reviewed, and approved, in year.

552
553

As detailed on page 67, the CCG also actively deters risk through the adoption of robust counterfraud methodology.

554

DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS

555
556
557
558
559
560

It is implicit through the work of the Governing Body and delegated Committees that members have
clear responsibility for ensuring appropriate use of resources. Where there are concerns in relation
to budgetary management, these are clearly documented in the Corporate Risk Register including
those key financial risks relating to the CCG’s commissioned Providers. During the course of 2016/17
there were three risks identified and recorded on the Corporate Risk Register relating to aspects of
financial risk.

561
562
563
564

Through the committee structure within Dorset CCG, regular reports are received on the
performance of contracted Providers. Areas of under and over performance are addressed through
contract meetings and reported though performance and quality papers to CCG groups and
committees.

565
566
567
568

The Audit and Quality Committee, under the scheme of delegation, monitor the financial
stewardship of the organisation via detailed reporting to every meeting and is responsible for
scrutinising and signing off the end of year financial accounts. At year end the CCG achieved the
control total that had been agreed with NHS England.

569
570
571
572

The Governing Body, Audit and Quality Committee, Quality Group and Director’s Performance
meetings retain oversight of all risks including those deemed to be systematic and are responsible
for ensuring that relevant mitigating actions are undertaken. There have been no significant internal
control failures identified throughout the financial year 2016/17.

573
574
575
576

Internal Audit has found no significant lapses in financial control or use of resources in any of the
audits that have been undertaken in this financial year. With the exception of the South West 999
service, Dorset CCG does not contract any commissioning support services from an external
Provider.

577

COUNTER FRAUD ARRANGEMENTS

578
579
580

The CCG’s Accountable Officer for fraud and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is
responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and prosecution of
subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.
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581
582
583
584
585

The CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who is responsible for the
investigation of any allegations of fraud and corruption and for the delivery of a programme of
proactive counter fraud work, as detailed in the annual work-plan approved by the Audit and Quality
Committee. Where fraud is established or improvements to systems or processes identified, the
LCFS will recommend appropriate action to the CCG.

586
587

The LCFS works closely with the Workforce Department when investigating cases involving members
of staff and provides evidence to the CCG’s investigating officer for disciplinary matters.

588
589
590
591
592

Monitoring of the Group’s counter fraud arrangements is undertaken by the Audit and Quality
Committee. The LCFS, who is responsible for the investigation of any allegations of fraud and
corruption and for the delivery of a programme of proactive counter fraud work, attends each
committee meeting to report progress against the agreed counter fraud work-plan and advise the
outcome of any completed investigations or proactive exercises.

593
594
595

A Fraud Response Plan is in place which sets out these roles and responsibilities and the steps to be
taken by the CCG if fraud is suspected. All staff are required to report any suspicions of fraud or
corruption that they may have either to the LCFS or the Chief Finance Officer.

596

See page 86 for further information on fraud.

597

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION

598
599
600
601

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical commissioning
group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the clinical commissioning groups system of risk management, governance and
internal control. The Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) concluded that:

602
603
604
605

The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment
of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist
the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS).

606
607
608
609

Based on its draft accounts, the CCG achieved its revenue resource surplus (including the nonrecurrent system risk reserve figure of £11.1m) of £28,805k at the year end from a revenue resource
limit of £1,161,142k. Our opinion on the organisation’s system of internal control has taken this
factor into account.

610

My opinion is set out as follows:

611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619

1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion; and
3. Commentary.
My overall opinion is that:
•

My overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally sound
system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are
generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design and/or
inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.

620
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621

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:

622
623
624
625
626
627

•

628
629
630

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not
required for Department of Health purposes, eg any reliance that is being placed upon Third Party
Assurances.

631

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:

632

Table 19: Internal audit reports

•

an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and
supporting processes; and
an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments,
contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported throughout the year.
This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and management’s
progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.

System
Individual Funding Requests
Safeguarding Adults
Cyber Security
Procurement
Governance arrangements over Primary Care
Engagement with Public and Patients
Clinical Delivery Groups
Financial Systems
Personal Health Budgets
Contract Performance and Quality Monitoring of Providers
Conflicts of Interest
Information Governance Toolkit
Sustainability and Transformation Plan production processes internally
and with partners
Transformation Plans (Local ICS Vanguards)
Primary Care Commissioning (draft)
Assurance Framework and Risk Management (draft)

Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Compliance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance
Assurance

Assurance
Assessment
Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable
Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Substantial
Reasonable
Substantial

Assurance

Substantial

Assurance
Assurance
Assurance

Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable

Type

633

There have been no priority 1 audit recommendations raised during the year.

634
635

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

636
637
638
639
640

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical commissioning group who
have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have
drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made
by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

641
642
643

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage
risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed. I
have been advised on the implication of the result of this review by:
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644
645
646
647
648

•
•

649
650
651
652

The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register have been designed to
provide me, as Accountable Officer, with sources of assurance which are evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG are achieving their principal objectives and
are reviewed on an on-going basis as described on pages 60 to 63.

653
654

The Executive Directors within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me, as Accountable Officer, with assurance.

655
656
657

As Accountable Officer, I have received assurance of the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal controls
as discharged through the committees described in page 52 to 54. Plans are in place to address any
areas of improvement identified; monitoring arrangements are in place to address these.

658
659

Pages 52 to 54 describe the process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control, including the role and outputs of the:

660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

668
669
670

Management has provided representation that the agreed actions which are identified at each of
these meetings are being implemented in accordance with the timescales provided to address the
findings raised.

671

Conclusion

672

I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.

673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680

•
•

the work of the internal auditors;
Executive Directors, Senior Managers and Clinical Leads within the CCG who have responsibility
for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework;
available performance information;
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

Governing Body;
Audit and Quality Committee;
Clinical Commissioning Committee;
Remuneration Committee;
Primary Care Commissioning Committee;
Quality Group;
Information Governance group.
Transformation Quality Assurance Group

[Signature to be inserted]
Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
Xx May 2017
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684

REMUNERATION REPORT

685

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

686
687
688
689
690
691

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body about the
remuneration, fees and allowances for senior managers and the persons in senior positions within
the CCG, including those who regularly attend the Governing Body meeting, who are appointed by
or who provide services to the CCG. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Jenkins,
Deputy CCG Chair and Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement. Other members during
2016/17 were:

692
693
694
695
696
697

•
•
•
•
•
•

698

The Committee met on four occasions in 2016/17.

699
700

Full details of the remuneration paid to the Governing Body members and senior employees are
provided within the Remuneration Report included herein, together with their pension entitlements.

701
702

Details of the number of committee meetings and individuals’ attendance at each can be seen on
our website.

703

SENIOR MANAGERS REMUNERATION REPORT

704
705
706

For the purpose of this report, senior managers are defined as being ‘those persons in senior
positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the
Clinical Commissioning Group’.

707
708
709

This means those who influence the decisions of the organisation as a whole rather than the
decisions of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will include advisory and Lay
Members.

710
711

It is the Remuneration Committee that recommends the reward packages of Executive Directors to
the Governing Body.

712

REMUNERATION POLICY

713
714
715

The policy on remuneration of senior managers has been determined following a Dorset based
public sector benchmarking exercise, national CCG remuneration guidance and principles, originally
established by the Department of Health within the very senior managers pay framework.

716
717
718
719

The committee continues to keep its policy under review and has undertaken wider CCG
benchmarking drawing on the publication of other CCG annual accounts. Account has been taken of
further guidance on remuneration across the NHS, including the controls on senior managers
salaries in excess of the Prime Minister. Dorset CCG remains compliant in this regard.
71

Dr Forbes Watson, CCG Chair;
Dr Karen Kirkham Governing Body, Locality Lead, Assistant Clinical Chair
Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for Governance/Chair of Audit and Quality Committee;
Mary Monnington, Registered Nurse Member (left 30 June 2016);
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member (from 1 August 2016);
Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member and Chair for Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
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720

SERVICE CONTRACTS

721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728

Senior officer appointments to the CCG are consistent with the employment policies of the CCG.
Where appropriate, duration of contracts is determined by the needs of the business. Notice periods
take account of statutory requirements and terms previously established by the NHS very senior
managers’ pay framework. Substantive contracts are subject to 6 months’ notice of termination. The
committee is responsible for approving all non-contractual termination payments, including any
compensation for early contract termination. Liability in the event of early termination is in
accordance with the NHS Agenda for Change terms and conditions handbook and further guidance
set by NHS England on the termination and reengagement of senior managers.

729
730
731
732
733

Other appointments to the Governing Body (excluding Accountable Officer and Chief Finance
Officer) are determined for periods of three years, renewable under terms provided for by the
constitution. From April 2016, a number of appointments to the Governing Body were renewed for
a second term of three years including the CCG Chair. Remuneration for these posts has remained
unchanged.

734
735

Please see the Governing Body Report page 51 for information on contract details. Governing Body
and senior managers’ profiles can be found on our website.

736
737
738
739
740

Corporate objectives (see page 7 for local corporate objectives for 2017/18) are reviewed via the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Governing Body. The objectives are distributed to
the senior management team where performance is reviewed six monthly by the Chief Officer; and
by the Chair for the Chief Officer Individual performance is reported to the Remuneration
Committee annually.

741
742
743

The Chief Financial Officer resigned his position during the year. The Committee reviewed the
remuneration arrangements of this post to ensure we could competitively secure this financial
leadership to the CCG governing body. An appointment is expected in early 2017/18.

72

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
744
745

Table 20: Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2016/17 – subject to audit

Name and Title

Executive Directors
1
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Dr Phil Richardson, Director of Transformation
Mrs Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development
Mr Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery
Locality Chairs
Dr Peter Blick, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth, Child
Safeguarding and Adult Safeguarding Lead (left 31/7/16)
1
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay, (from
1
13/4/2016)
1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and
Portland, Assistant Clinical Chair role, GP Clinical Delivery
1
Group (Maternity and Family Health)
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair for North Bournemouth (Left
1
30/9/16)
73

2016/17
Annual
Long term
Performance
performance
related
related bonuses
4
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£’000
£’000

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
3
(taxable)
to nearest £100

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000

£’00

£’000

£’000

80 - 85
140 - 145
105 - 110
55 - 60
95 - 100
95 - 100
95 - 100

0
0
7
5
5
5
3

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
40 - 42.5
25 - 27.5
15 - 17.5
22.5 - 25
22.5 - 25
20 - 22.5

80 - 85
180 - 185
130 - 135
75 - 80
120 - 125
120 - 125
120 - 125

95 - 100

2

0

0

67.5 - 70

165 - 170

35 - 40

0

0

0

0

35 - 40

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30

30 - 35
70 - 75

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30 - 35
70 - 75

10 - 15

0

0

0

0

10 - 15
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Name and Title

1

Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
1
(from 1/4/16)
1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North
1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
(from 1/9/16)
Dr Stephen Tomkins, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch (Left
28/02/17)
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP
Clinical Delivery Group (Pan – Urgent Care, Clinical Services
Review and Better Together) Lead and Urgent and Emergency
1
Care Clinical Working Group Chair
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset, (from
1/4/2016)
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for
Governance, Chair of the Audit and Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public
Engagement, Deputy Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Ms Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for
Primary Care
Mr Charles Buckle, Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Lay Member (from 1/02/17)
Mr Roger Davies, Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee (until 4/10/16)

2016/17
Annual
Long term
Performance
performance
related
related bonuses
4
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£’000
£’000
0
0
0
0

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
3
(taxable)
to nearest £100

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000
25 - 30
25 - 30

£’00
0
0

£’000
0
0

£’000
25 - 30
25 - 30

25 - 30
20 - 25

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

25 - 30
20 - 25

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

55 - 60

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0-5
0-5
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Name and Title

Other Members
Ms Mary Monnington, Registered Nurse Member (Left
30/06/16)
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Dr George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant Member
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Lionel Cartwright, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Cancer and
1
End of Life) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term
Conditions and Frail Elderly) Lead and Chief Clinical Information
Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and
1
Specialist Care) Lead

2016/17
Annual
Long term
Performance
performance
related
related bonuses
4
bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)
£’000
£’000

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
3
(taxable)
to nearest £100

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000

£’00

£’000

£’000

0-5

0

0

0

0

0–5

10 - 15
15 - 20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
52.5 - 55

10 – 15
70 - 75

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

55 - 60

0

0

0

0

55 - 60

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

746

* Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.

747

Notes:

748
749

1

Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions paid via the
NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are included in the individual’s GP pension.

750
751

2

Taxable Benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.

75
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Table 21: Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 2016/17

Name and Title

Executive Directors
1,2
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Ms Jane Pike, Director of Service Development (left 17/7/2015)
Dr Phil Richardson, Director of Transformation
Mrs Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development
Mr Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery (from 1/10/2015)
Locality Chairs
Dr Peter Blick, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth, Child
Safeguarding and Adult Safeguarding Lead
2
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset
Dr Robert Childs, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset (left
2
31/3/16)
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Paul French, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth, GP
Clinical Delivery Group (Mental Health) Lead and Audit and
Quality Committee member
2
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and
Portland, Assistant Clinical Chair role (from 1/8/2015), GP
2
Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)
2
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair for North Bournemouth

2015/16
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
4
bonuses
related bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Taxable
3
Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £’00)

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000

£’00

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

85 - 90
135 - 140
105 - 110
55 - 60
25 - 30
95 - 100
95 - 100
95 - 100

0
0
3
3
1
3
4
4

0
5 - 10
0-5
0
0-5
0-5
0-5
0-5

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
87.5 - 90
52.5 - 55
7.5 - 10
12.5 - 15
37.5 - 40
122.5 - 125
47.5 - 50

85 - 90
230 - 235
160 - 165
65 - 70
45 - 50
135 - 140
220 - 225
150 - 155

90 - 95

5

0

0

0

90 - 95

60 - 65

29

0

0

0

60 - 65

30 - 35
30 - 35

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30 - 35
30 - 35

30 - 35
65 - 70

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30 - 35
65 - 70

30 - 35
70 - 75

61
13

0
0

0
0

0
0

35 - 40
70 - 75

30 - 35

3

0

0

0

30 - 35
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Name and Title

Dr Chris McCall, Assistant Clinical Chair, GP Locality Chair for
Poole North and GP Clinical Delivery Group (General Medical
and Surgical) Lead (Left 31/07/2015)
2
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North (From
2
1/08/2015)
2
Dr Andy Rutland, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay
2
Dr Patrick Seal, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central (Left
30/9/15)
Dr Stephen Tomkins, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central (From
1/10/2015). GP Clinical Delivery Group (Pan – Urgent Care,
Clinical Services Review and Better Together) Lead and Urgent
and Emergency Care Clinical Working Group Chair (From
2
1/11/2013)
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for
Governance, Chair of the Audit and Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public
Engagement, Deputy Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group
and Chair of the Remuneration Committee
Ms Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for
Primary Care (from 26/05/15)
Mr Charles Buckle, Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Mr Roger Davies, Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee (from 12/10/15)
Other Members
77

2015/16
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
4
bonuses
related bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Taxable
3
Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £’00)

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000
25 - 30

£’00
0

£’000
0

£’000
0

£’000
0

£’000
25 - 30

30 - 35
25 - 30

0
9

0
0

0
0

0
0

30 - 35
25 - 30

35 - 40
20 - 25

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

35 - 40
20 - 25

30 - 35
50 - 55

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

30 - 35
50 - 55

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5
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Name and Title

Dr Chris Burton, Secondary Care Consultant Member (Left
31/3/2016)
Ms Mary Monnington, Registered Nurse Member
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Lionel Cartwright, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Cancer and
2
End of Life) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term
Conditions and Frail Elderly) Lead
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and
2
Specialist Care) Lead

2015/16
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
4
bonuses
related bonuses
(bands of
(bands of
£5,000)
£5,000)

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Taxable
3
Benefits
(rounded to the
nearest £’00)

All pensionrelated benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£’000
15 - 20

£’00
0

£’000
0

£’000
0

£’000
45 - 47.5

£’000
60 - 65

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

30 - 35

33

0

0

0

30 - 35

30 - 35

0

0

0

0

30 - 35

753

* Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.

754

Notes:

755

1

The CCG Chair was awarded £5,000 reflecting the additional leadership responsibilities in 2014/15, paid 2015/16.

756
757

2

Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions paid via the
NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are included in the individual’s GP pension.

758

3

Taxable Benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.

759
760

4

The CCG ran a Performance Related Pay (PRP) scheme where a payment of between 0% to 5% can be made to each and every Executive, on an individual basis,
based on the performance and/or development of the individual Executive in that year.

761
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Table 22: Pension benefits as at 31 March 2017 – subject to audit
Name and Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Real increase
in pension at
pension age

Real increase in
pension lump
sum at pension
age

Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2017

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension
at 31 March 2017

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value
at 1 April 2016

Real Increase in
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value

Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value at
31 March 2017

Employers
Contribution to
partnership
pension

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Tim Goodson, Chief Officer

2.5-5

0-2.5

40-45

100-105

568

48

616

0

Paul Vater, Chief Finance Office

0-2.5

5-7.5

30-35

95-100

584

50

634

0

Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality

0-2.5

2.5-5

30-35

90-95

574

50

624

0

Phil Richardson, Director of Transformation

0-2.5

0

0-5

0

33

24

57

0

Mike Wood, Director of Services Delivery

2.5-5

10-12.5

30-35

100-105

558

82

640

0

Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development

0-2.5

2.5-5

25-30

80-85

474

42

516

0

Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel

0-2.5

0

20-25

0

318

27

345

0

George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant
Member

2.5-5

0-2.5

70-75

195-200

1,191

82

1,273

0

763

Notes:

764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774

1
2
3
4
5

6

79

Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Full details of the accounting policy regarding pension costs can be found within Note 4 of the full set of audited financial statements.
As it is not possible to apportion the CETV across organisations the full value for each senior manager is reported above.
Dr George Thomson is recharged to the Clinical Commissioning Group by Northern Devon NHS Trust which includes pension costs. In accordance with the Manual
of Accounts, 100% of Dr Thomson's NHS pension entitlements are shown above, however, only 12% of the pension entitlements relate to his Clinical
Commissioning Group engagement.
GP's who serve on the Governing Body for the Clinical Commissioning Group are either recognised as being under a 'contract for service' and a current Practitioner
and therefore according to the NHS Pension Agency do not fall within the definition of a Senior Manager for disclosure under Greenbury; or are a retired
Practitioner and do not receive pensionable remuneration. GP Practitioner Pension contributions are made by the GP SOLO system, and are therefore not
reflected in the table above.
'0' is shown above where a Senior Manager is part of the 2008 NHS Pension Scheme, which does not have a Lump sum entitlement.
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775

PAY MULTIPLES (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

776
777
778
779

The CCG is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid
director/Member (Governing Body member) in the organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation’s workforce.

780
781
782

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in the CCG in the financial year
2016/17 was £142,500 (2015/16, £137,500). This was 4.0 times (2015/16, 4.0) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £35,225 (2015/16, £34,876).

783
784
785
786
787

The ratio has not changed from last year reflecting the Clinical Commissioning Group’s aim to keep
parity between Governing Body and staff salaries. The increase in the median remuneration has
been seen particularly in Bands 4 to 7 and is mainly due to agency staff being taken on under fixed
term contracts within the Quality Directorate due to increased demand on continuing healthcare
and within Service Delivery for taking on delegated responsibility for primary care.

788
789

In 2016/17 and 2015/16, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid
director/Member. Remuneration ranged from £15,000 to £142,500 (2015/16, £15,000 to £137,500).

790
791

Total remuneration includes salary, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not
include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) of pensions.

792
793

The CCG continues to maintain close control over senior leadership pay in light of the severe funding
challenges facing the NHS.

794

CASH EQUIVALENT TRANSFER VALUES

795
796
797
798

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.

799
800
801
802
803

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.

804
805
806
807
808

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

809

REAL INCREASE IN CASH EQUIVALENT TRANSFER VALUE (CETV)

810
811

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase
in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
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812
813

benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.

814

PENSION LIABILITIES

815
817

For more information regarding pension benefits and costs please see the Financial Performance
section on page 14 (see Note 1.6 Accounting Policies, Note 4 Employee Benefits and Not 14 Trade
and other Payables).

818

LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

819
820

There were two special payments in 2016/17 totalling £1,250 and one in 2015/16 of £150. In
2016/17 there was one loss of £100, and none in 2015/16.

821

COMPENSATION ON EARLY RETIREMENT OR OF LOSS OF OFFICE (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

822
823

There was one ill-health retirement in 2016/17 and the costs of this are met by the NHS Pension
Scheme and are not included in the Accounts of the Clinical Commissioning Group.

824

PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

825

We had no payments to past directors in 2016/17 or in the preceding three years.

826

REMUNERATION OF VERY SENIOR MANAGERS

827
828

The CCG has not paid any senior managers more than £142,500 per annum in 2016/17. There were
two payments, including one pro-rata, in 2015/16 that totalled above £142,500.

816

829
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STAFF REPORT

831
832
833
834

NUMBER OF SENIOR MANAGERS
Table 23 below shows the number of senior managers by band, excluding Governing Body members within
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.

835

Table 23: Number of senior managers by band

NHS Dorset CCG

Number

Very senior manager
Band 8d
Band 8c
Band 8b
Band 8a
Total

4
8
14
32
36
96

836
837

STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)

838

Table 24: Average staff numbers

2016/17

Average Staff
Numbers
Other
TOTAL

Permanently
employed

Other

No.

No.

294
294

24
24

2015/16
Total

Permanently
employed

Other

Total

No.

No.

No.

No.

318
318

270
270

25
25

295
295

839
840

Table 25: Staff costs

2016/17
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

Salaries and wages

11,539

1,290

12,829

Social security costs

1,189

0

1,189

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme

1,409

0

1,409

23

0

23

14,160

1,290

15,450

Termination benefits
Gross admin employee benefits expenditure
Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Net admin employee benefits expenditure including
capitalised costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net admin employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs
Total average number of people employed
Of above number of whole time equivalent people engaged
on capital projects

(67)
14,093
(66)
14,027
294.19
2.43

0
1,290
0
1,290
23.97
0

(67)
15,383
(66)
15,317
318.16
2.43
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842

STAFF COMPOSITION

843
844

Table 26 shows the gender distribution of our Governing Body and independent lay members, senior
managers and all other employees as at 31 March 2017.

845

Table 26: Staff numbers by gender

NHS Dorset CCG
Governing Body and
independent lay
members
Very senior managers
Senior managers
Other staff
Total

Number
Male
15
3
26
44
88

846

SICKNESS ABSENCE DATA

847

Table 27: Staff sickness absence

Female
6

Total
21

1
64
194
265

4
90
238
353

Total days lost
Total average number of staff (full time equivalent)
Average working days lost

2016/17
Number
2,120
344
6.16

848
849

The above figures are provided by the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) and must
be used. Figures are for calendar years.

850

Table 28: % of staff sick or absence

CCG average
NHS rate
CCG target

2016/17
%
3.17
4.37
3.00

851
852

Over the last year we have built on previous good practice surrounding the management of staff
absence, which has resulted in a continuation of a low absence rate during this period.

853
854
855

The overall absence rate for the CCG during 2016/17 is 3.17%. This compares to the absence rate of
2.48% seen in 2015/16. This has been maintained below national NHS rates through a number of
actions including:

856
857
858
859
860
861
862

•
•
•

83

managers are asked to update the Workforce team on the first day of any staff absence in order
that they are aware of all absences at an early stage;
sickness data is monitored closely by our Workforce team to ensure that support is provided to
both staff and their line managers where needed as quickly as possible;
workforce has offered a number of opportunities throughout the year for employees to discuss
any personal issues, as well as offering stress risk assessments and training in identifying the
signs of stress;
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863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874

•

875

STAFF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

•

•
•

at all stages of absences employees are reminded of the Employee Assistance Programme and
the support they offer;
a member of the workforce team will contact the relevant line manager and offer support and
guidance as soon as the team is aware of any new long term absences; absences due to serious
medical conditions; patterns of absence which could indicate potential warnings signs of stress;
as well as when a staff member hits our agreed trigger point for short term absences;
as part of a wider Scorecard covering key employment data, anonymised sickness data is
provided on a monthly basis to the relevant Senior Managers within each Directorate in order to
raise awareness of any trends;
a number of long term absences have been managed to ensure either a successful return to
work or that the employee leaves the CCG within the correct processes. This has included
successfully supporting employees to apply for ill-health retirement.

876
877
878

We are committed to the health and wellbeing of our staff and in addition to the work we do to
support absence management, we continued to develop our wider offering during 2016:

879
880
881
882
883
884
885
886
887
888

•
•
•
•

889
890

Alongside these activities we have been working with NHS providers across Dorset to develop a
more consistent and effective offering:

891
892
893
894
895
896

•
•

897

STAFF POLICIES

898
899

The CCG has policies in place to provide guidance to all employees. All human resource policies have
been written to ensure equality and diversity is upheld in the workplace.

900
901
902

The human resources policies within the CCG were written in April 2014 with a commitment to
review after two years. However, in agreement with our trade union partners we committed to
reviewing the policies throughout 2015/16 to ensure proper scrutiny free from time pressures.

903
904
905

The policies have been reviewed by the workforce team and the local trade unions and then signed
off by the CCG directors and the trade union partnership meeting which includes regional trade
unions.

•
•
•

•

highly successful month-long staff ‘pedometer challenge’ during the summer;
the launch of an informal staff buddy system following feedback from our last staff survey;
rollout of a new in-house stress management training module for our line managers;
commencement of a project to promote and champion flexible working practices, starting with
the drafting of management guidelines following focus groups with staff and senior managers;
work to develop intranet information hubs to support carers as well as staff with long term
health conditions;
development of training sessions to support carers, to be launched in February 2017;
promotion of new self-help webinars launched recently by our employee assistance programme
provider.

informal meetings held with other Dorset NHS Health and Wellbeing Leads to share ideas;
most recently, more formal meetings between human resources and organisational
development system leaders to agree a joint Leading and Working Differently Strategy, to
include a staff health and wellbeing work stream;
first joint contract review meeting held recently with our Employee Assistance Programme
provider to see how we can utilise them even better.
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906
907
908

In addition, throughout 2016/17 we have worked with trade union partners to revise policies and
guidance documents to reflect the changing needs of employees. This has included revisions to our
on-call guidance and our approach to flexible working.

909

EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION

910
911

The CCG is committed to involving and communicating with staff across a range of matters. This is
through a variety of channels such as the weekly staff bulletin, and monthly briefings as well as:

912
913
914
915
916
917
918
919
920
921
922

•
•

923

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

924
925

The CCG continues to be proactive in it recruitment of disabled employees. We remain committed to
the national ‘Two Ticks’ symbol which means we have committed to;

926
927
928
929
930
931
932

•

933

DEVELOPMENT OF OUR STAFF

934
935
936
937

The workforce team work closely with managers and staff to ensure they have the right
development in place to deliver in their roles. In 2016/17 the appraisal removed the ratings systems
to allow for a more open flow of conversation between managers and staff. The completion rate for
staff appraisals was 99%. In addition, the following development has been identified and delivered:

938
939
940
941
942
943
944
945
946

•
•

947
948

The CCG is also committed to ensuring all staff have completed their statutory and mandatory
training. The completion rate is currently 93%.

•

•
•
•

•
•
•
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Our Voice Our Forum - a staff forum with representatives from across the organisation;
staff survey - in 2016/17 the CCG again used the NHS staff survey as a mechanism for gathering
the views of our employees. We received a response rate of 87.5% which was an increase from
the 74% recorded in 2015/16. The Workforce team has already embarked on a number of
actions as a result of the 2016/17 survey outcomes and will continue to work with directors and
line managers to improve the working lives of our employees;
annual staff events - in 2016/17 the CCG held two all staff events and both were focused around
the needs of the employees of the organisation. At the December event a session was focused
around employee experiences of the actions undertaken as a result of the 2015/16 staff survey.
We also delivered an informal question and answer session with the directors of the CCG to
inform employees of current and future priorities.

interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to
consider them on their abilities;
make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in employment;
take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability awareness
needed to make these commitments work;
we also trained a number of workstation assessors on both of our sites to allow more informal
assessments to be undertaken ahead of any Occupational Health referrals.

programme management, designed in line with the CCG processes and aligned to PRINCE2
focused development on key areas including leadership- Transformational conversations
brought leaders from across Health and Care in Dorset to learn together and collaborate on
transforming care to meet current and future challenges
manager developed through the Managers Essentials programme
tailored communication and engagement development to meet the growing need for public and
patient consultation
development to support members including Hot Topics; a GP development day with 200 GPs
from across Dorset attended an educational conference organised by the CCG
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HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE

950
951
952
953
954

We are committed to ensuring the health and safety of all our employees. It is important to us as an
organisation that we provide a safe environment for people to work in where their health and safety
is valued, and in doing this we continue to work closely with our landlord and security management
teams. In order to ensure as far as possible the health and safety of our staff we have a number of
procedures in place:

955
956
957
958
959
960
961
962
963
964
965

•

966

Further health and safety action implementations have been as follows:

967
968
969
970
971
972
973
974

•

975

FRAUD

976
977
978
979
980

We remain committed to maintain honesty and integrity in all of our activities. We also commit to
the elimination of any fraud against the CCG, either from internal or external sources and to the
rigorous investigation of any allegations of fraud, bribery or corruption. The systems and procedures
we use are designed so that the opportunity to commit fraud, bribery or engage in corrupt practices
is kept to a minimum.

981

We endorse wholly the NHS Protect strategy to deal with fraud within the National Health Service.

982
983

Members, officers and staff are required to report any suspicions of fraud or corruption that they
may have to the Group’s nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist.

984
985
986

All members of staff can be confident that they will not suffer in any way as a result of reporting
reasonably held suspicions of fraud, bribery or corruption and maintain a Whistleblowing Policy
detailing how staff may report any concerns they have and the protection afforded to them.

987
988

Any case of alleged fraud, bribery or corruption found or reported will be investigated by our Local
Counter Fraud Specialist and the findings of that investigation acted upon by us.

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

we continue to have robust governance of health and safety matters through reporting to our
trade union and directors meetings;
we have updated building risk assessments and implemented mitigating actions, particularly
regarding security with the installation of CCTV at Vespasian House;
we continue to hold bi-annual health and safety meetings with our staff representatives (fire,
first aid, general health and safety) and maintain training certificates as required;
fire marshals and general health and safety representatives continue to undertake monthly risk
assessments;
a personal emergency evacuation plan procedure is in place for staff and visitors who require
assistance to evacuate a building, and associated training for fire marshals on the use of a ski
pad at Vespasian House is maintained.

the out-of-hours procedures for security and maintenance that affect business continuity have
been reviewed and pathways are now included in on-call manager packs;
there has been agreement with our landlord for them to undertake 3 yearly fire risk assessments
rather than annual, unless there has been a change in use;
the fire panel at Vespasian House has been upgraded to improve the location displays, and also
now provides direct contact to the landlord when activated, as well as our on-call manager if
business continuity is affected;
floor and zone maps are now in place at Vespasian House for the fire service.

86
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990
991
992

We will seek the application of the most appropriate, effective and extensive sanctions possible
where fraud is believed to be present. These include disciplinary action, referral to professional
body, civil recovery and criminal proceedings. These sanctions are not mutually exclusive and any
combination may be applied as deemed appropriate.

993

EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY

994

Table 29: Expenditure on Consultancy

Supplier
McKinsey & Co
Emergency Care
Solutions
Royal College of
Paediatrics & Child
Health
Nottinghamshire
Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
The Folio Partnership Ltd
Total for Year
McKinsey & Co
Folio Partnership Limited
NHS Confederation
Total for Year

Details

£'000

2016/17
Providing models of care for the Clinical Services Review across Dorset
Review of long term condition, frailty in Dorset

26
5

Review of paediatric service in Dorset

39

Implementing Recovery through Organisation Change

17

Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Model Development Assurance

11
98

2015/16
Providing models of care for the Clinical Services Review across Dorset
Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Model Development Assurance
Review of Mental Health Acute Care Pathway

706
15
53
774

OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS

995
996
997
998

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than
six months are as follows:

999

Table 30: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months

Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

12

Of which, the number that have existed:

1000
1001

87

•

for less than one year at the time of reporting

2

•

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

•

for between two and three years at the time of reporting

1

•

for between three and four years at the time of reporting

8

•

for four or more years at the time of reporting

Nil
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1002
1003

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220
per day and that last longer than six months:

1004

Table 31: New off-payroll engagements

1005
Number
Number of new engagements or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017

2

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the clinical
commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation to Income Tax and
National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

0

Of which:

1006
1007
1008
1009
1010
1011
1012
1013
1014
1015
1016
1017
1018
1019

•

assurance has been received

N/A

•

assurance has not been received

N/A

•

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

N/A

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017. Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP
leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’
contributions, paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, whilst not off-payroll
for the purposes of the above tables, GP leads are treated separately to other individuals on the CCG
payroll. All individuals, including GP leads, added to the CCG payroll system and all members of the
GP SOLO scheme are checked to ensure compliance with Income Tax and National Insurance
obligations.
There were no off-payroll engagements that fell outside of the GP leads group, requiring assurance
to be sought, and obtained, in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations for that
individual.
Table 32: Off-payroll engagements/senior official engagements

1020
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

10

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been deemed "board
members, and/or senior officers with significant financial responsibility" during the
financial year

12

1021

88
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EXIT PACKAGES, INCLUDING SPECIAL (NON-CONTRACTUAL) PAYMENTS

1023

Table 33: Exit packages 2016/17 – subject to audit

Exit package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element
Less than
£10,000
£10,001 £25,000
Total

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total
number of
exit
packages

Total cost of
exit packages

Cost of special
payment element
included in exit
packages

£s

Number of
departures
where special
payments
have been
made
Numbers

Numbers

£s

Numbers

£s

Numbers

0

0

1

8,806

1

8,806

0

0

0

0

1

14,410

1

14,410

0

0

0

0

2

23,216

2

23,216

0

0

£s

1024
1025
1026
1027
1028

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the terms of the individual contracts of employment. Exit costs
in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the NHS Dorset CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the
NHS Dorset CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement pension costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the
table.

1029

Table 34: Analysis of other agreed departures

2016-17
Other agreed departures
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Total
1030

89

Number
2
2

£
23,216
23,216
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BETTER PAYMENTS CODE

1032
1033
1034
1035

In accordance with the Better Payments Practice Code, valid invoices should be paid by their due
date or within 30 days of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance is presented below,
measured in terms of both the number and value of invoices received, against an NHS administrative
target to pay over 95% of non-NHS trade creditors in accordance with the code.

1036

Table 35: Non-NHS Payables

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

2016/17
Number
£'000
30,114
269,897
29,513
265,001
98.0%
98.2%

2015/16
Number
£'000
27,812
179,883
27,358
174,456
98.4%
97.0%

2016/17
Number
£'000
4,181
741,757
4,129
739,856
98.8%
99.7%

2015/16
Number
£'000
3,949
717,360
3,879
716,868
98.2%
99.9%

1037
1038

Table 36: NHS Payables

Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target
1039

PROMPT PAYMENTS CODE

1040

We are a signatory to the Prompt Payment Code.

1041
1042
1043
1044
1045

The Prompt Payment Code sets standards for payment practices and best practice and is
administered by the Chartered Institute of Credit Management on behalf of the Department for
Business Innovation and Skills. Compliance with the principles of the code is monitored and
enforced by the Prompt Payment Code Compliance Board. The code covers prompt payment, as
well as wider payment procedures, and in signing up we undertake to:

1046

• pay suppliers on time:

1047
1048
1049
1050
1051

within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract;
without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively;
without changing practice on length of payment for smaller companies on unreasonable
grounds.
• give clear guidance to suppliers:

1052
1053
1054
1055
1056
1057

provide suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures;
ensure there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is communicated to
suppliers;
* advise them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid within the
agreed terms.
• encourage good practice:

1058

*
*
*

*
*

*

request that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code through their own supply chains.
90
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT REPORT

1060
1061
1062
1063
1064

NHS Dorset CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on losses and special payments and gifts are included in this report at pages 81 and 65
respectively. Disclosures on contingent liabilities are included as Note 16 in the Financial Statements
of this report. NHS Dorset CCG has no disclosures on fees and charges.

1065

An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at page 92.

1066
1067

[Signature to be inserted]

1068
1069

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer

1070

xx May 2017
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NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2016-17

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for year ended
31 March 2017

NOTE

2016-17
Total
£000

2015-16
Total
£000

Revenue from sale of goods and services
Other operating revenue
Total Operating Revenue

2
2

(6,876)
(476)
(7,352)

(7,276)
(306)
(7,582)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

5
5
5
5
5

15,384
1,122,165
404
(505)
2,139
1,139,587

14,436
1,000,405
296
(63)
3,546
1,018,620

1,132,235

1,011,037

102
102

108
108

1,132,337

1,011,145

Net Operating Expenditure
Financing
Finance expense
Net financing costs for the financial year

7

Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the financial year

The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement.

The purpose of this statement is to summarise, on an accruals basis, the net operating costs of the CCG. The
statement identifies gross operating costs, less miscellaneous income, to arrive at the net operating costs of the
CCG.

SOCNE
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Statement of Financial Position at
31 March 2017
NOTE

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

9
10

952
112
1,064

783
0
783

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade & other receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Total Current Assets

11
12
13

1,259
11,833
17
13,109

1,106
5,785
16
6,907

14,173

7,690

14
15

(54,826)
(2,197)
(57,023)
(42,850)

(44,965)
(2,748)
(47,713)
(40,023)

15

(748)
(748)
(43,598)

(746)
(746)
(40,769)

(43,598)
(43,598)

(40,769)
(40,769)

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Total Non Current Assets Less Net Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers' Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity
The notes on pages 5 to 24 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on xxxxx and signed on its
behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Date xxxxx

SOFP
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2017
General
Fund
£000

Total

(40,769)

(40,769)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(1,132,337)

(1,132,337)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

(1,173,106)
1,129,508
(43,598)

(1,173,106)
1,129,508
(43,598)

General Fund

Total

£000

£000

(39,264)

(39,264)

Net operating cost for the year

(1,011,145)

(1,011,145)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2016

(1,050,409)
1,009,640
(40,769)

(1,050,409)
1,009,640
(40,769)

Balance at 1 April 2016

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Balance at 1 April 2015

Changes in an entity's equity between the beginning and the end of the reporting period reflect the increase or
decrease in its net assets during the period.
The Statement has been interpreted to include figures for net operating costs for the year and funding for the
year.

SOCITE
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2017
NOTE
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenses for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

2&5
5&9
5 & 15
7 & 15
11
12
14
15
15

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities

9
10

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

2016-17
£000

2015-16
£000

(1,132,339)
404
(129)
102
(153)
(6,046)
9,868
(145)
(376)
(1,128,814)

(1,011,145)
296
(43)
108
(391)
2,943
(760)
(69)
(20)
(1,009,081)

(581)
(112)
(693)

(555)
0
(555)

(1,129,507)

(1,009,637)

1,129,508
1,129,508

1,009,640
1,009,640

1

3

16

13

17

16

13

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the
Financial Year

13

The Statement of Cash Flows provides information on CCG liquidity, viability and financial adaptability.

SCF
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The notes to the accounts provide additional details on the entries on the primary statements as well as
additional disclosures, such as the accounting policies that the organisation follows when preparing its
accounts.

Cover Notes
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged
to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using
the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health
Service Act 2006 the Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising
from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
• The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;
• The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;
• The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises:
• The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
• The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.3.1

Following a review of the 12 schemes within the Better Care Fund, it has been determined that the Clinical Commissioning Group
is not in any jointly controlled operations or jointly controlled asset arrangements. There is, though, a risk share agreement for the
Pan Dorset Community Equipment scheme, requiring a pooled budget arrangement.

1.4

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
No critical judgements with a significant effect on the amounts recognised on the financial statements were required.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies
are detailed within the relevant disclosure notes to these financial statements, most notably the Provisions Note.

1.4.1
1.4.2

1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the
fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

Note 1
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1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme:
the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that
would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets
and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for
assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current
value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised.
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.8.2

1.8.3

1.9
1.9.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning
group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Note 1
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1.9.2

1.10

• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for
example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on
research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
•The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
•The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
•The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
•How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
•The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
•The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date
when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is
recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or,
where no active market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs
and technological advances.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption
of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Clinical
Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical
Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.11

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only
where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.12

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether
they are operating or finance leases.
1.12.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straightline basis over the lease term.
Note 1
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1.13

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using
HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously: minus 1.55%)
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously: minus 1.00%)
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not
associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any
excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31
March 2013. Under the scheme Clinical Commissioning Groups contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the
claims.

1.19

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning
Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group. A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.20

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in
the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets; and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Note 1
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1.20.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Assets with embedded derivatives.
1.20.2 Held to Maturity Assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Held to Maturity Assets.
1.20.3 Available for Sale Financial Assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Available for Sale Financial Assets.
1.20.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active
market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held
at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of
receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the
extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Loans, only Receivables.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value.
1.21.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities.
1.21.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Liabilities with embedded derivatives.
1.21.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.
1.21

1.22

Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net
of VAT.

1.23

Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a
foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit in the period in
which they arise.

1.24

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

Note 1
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1.25

Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 201617, all of which are subject to consultation:
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH groups bodies)
• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in
that year.

Note 1
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total

Admin
£000

2016-17
Programme
£000

Total
£000

Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

Total
£000

0
(10)
(124)
(34)
(168)

(67)
0
(6,742)
(375)
(7,184)

(67)
(10)
(6,866)
(409)
(7,352)

33
(11)
(320)
(42)
(340)

(41)
(0)
(6,945)
(256)
(7,242)

(8)
(11)
(7,265)
(298)
(7,582)

This note discloses the income that relates directly to the operating activities of the CCG. Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly
attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. It excludes cash received from NHS England by the CCG, which is credited directly to
the General Fund.

3. Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

Admin
£000

2016-17
Programme
£000

Total
£000

Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

Total
£000

(168)
0
(168)

(7,184)
0
(7,184)

(7,352)
0
(7,352)

(340)
0
(340)

(7,242)
0
(7,242)

(7,582)
0
(7,582)

Revenue received is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

4. Employee Benefits
Please refer to the Annual Report for details of Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers.
2016-17
£000
11

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year

2015-16
£000
12

This note identifies the accrual in the accounts for pension liabilities for GP SOLO payments. More information on Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers
is contained in the Annual Report.

4.1 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be
found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the
Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of
these follows:
4.1.1 Full Actuarial (Funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
2016-17
£000
1,409
%
14.3

Employers’ contributions were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme
Payable to the NHS Pension Scheme of pensionable pay, at the rate of

2015-16
£000
1,348
%
14.3

The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme
valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2014.
The latest valuation was carried out in March 2012 and was published in June 2014. The next valuation was due to take place in March 2016, to be
implemented from April 2019. This report has not yet been published.

Note 2-4
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5. Operating Expenses
2016-17

Gross Employee Benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other Costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Inventories written down and consumed
Depreciation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services
• Other services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees (excluding statutory audit)
Grants to other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC risk pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total Other Costs
Total Operating Expenses

2015-16

Admin

Programme

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

11,869
316
12,185

3,199
0
3,199

15,068
316
15,384

12,329
320
12,649

1,787
0
1,787

14,116
320
14,436

133
0
0
0
73
662
0
207
4
1,321
71
870
0
404
90

565
732,308
4,133
42
145,584
0
56
224
93
1,728
2
92
1,106
0
0

698
732,308
4,133
42
145,657
662
56
431
97
3,049
73
962
1,106
404
90

127
0
0
0
483
660
0
391
0
1,089
45
906
0
296
90

555
709,345
5,278
0
145,059
0
52
528
899
1,376
1
192
2,784
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
220
0
17
0
195
0
27
0
0
4,294

0
0
124,608
(1)
263
107,248
100
351
0
0
75
(129)
(403)
1,861
3
1,119,908

0
0
124,608
(1)
263
107,248
320
351
17
0
270
(129)
(376)
1,861
3
1,124,203

0
0
0
0
0
0
261
0
19
0
235
0
(108)
0
0
4,495

0
0
121,871
1
247
6,339
229
74
0
5
154
(43)
88
4,652
3
999,689

682
709,345
5,278
0
145,542
660
52
919
899
2,465
46
1,098
2,784
296
90
0
0
0
121,871
1
247
6,339
490
74
19
5
389
(43)
(20)
4,652
3
1,004,183

16,479

1,123,108

1,139,587

17,144

1,001,476

1,018,620

CHC risk pool contributions – shows the contribution the Clinical Commissioning Group is required to make to NHS England for retrospective CHC
claims relating to pre-1st April 2013 (from the previous Primary Care Trusts). The nationally required pool is managed centrally and contributions are
determined annually, based on expectations of when claims will be agreed and settled.
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - shows costs related primary care services. 2016/17 saw the Clinical Commissioning Group take on the delegated cocommissioning role from NHS England, so 2015/16 only includes enhanced services over and above those provided in the core GP contract.
Inventories consumed/written down - shows the cost of stock utilised by the Pooled Budget for ICES, Note 11 refers. During 2015/16 £2,644,697 of
stock was consumed and £ 139,065 was written down; no stock was written down in 2016/17.
Internal Audit - As Internal Audit is carried out by a different organisation to our Statutory Audit, the Department of Health guidance is to show Internal
Audit costs in 'Other professional fees'.

Note 5
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
6.1 Measure of Compliance
2016-17
Number

2015-16
Number

£000

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

30,114
29,513
98.00%

269,897
265,001
98.19%

27,812
27,358
98.37%

179,883
174,456
96.98%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

4,181
4,129
98.76%

741,757
739,856
99.74%

3,949
3,879
98.23%

717,360
716,868
99.93%

This note shows the Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against its administrative duty to pay all creditors within 30 calendar
days of receipt of goods or valid invoice, whichever is later, unless other payment terms have been agreed. There is a performance target
of 95% for each measure.

7. Finance Costs
2016-17
£000
102
102

Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total Finance Costs

2015-16
£000
108
108

This note identifies the Clinical Commissioning Groups interest costs, including the unwinding of discounts on provisions, and corresponds
with the amount shown on the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

8. Operating Leases
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently is lessee in respect of property leases and equipment rental. The most significant rents are
for Trust Headquarters and related buildings across the county. The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any contractual option
to buy these properties.

8.1 As Lessee
Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2016-17
Total
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2015-16
Total
£000

627
0
0
627

(2)
0
0
(2)

625
0
0
625

967
0
0
967

2
0
0
2

969
0
0
969

871
1,278
0
2,149

(2)
0
0
(2)

869
1,278
0
2,147

472
984
0
1,456

2
1
0
3

474
985
0
1,459

Payments recognised as an Expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases. The rental charge for future years has
been agreed and are reflected in the Buildings figures above. The future years payments are calculated up to the next break point in the
lease.
Other Lease costs are for the rental of combined photocopier/scanners and lease cars. The negative balance is due the deduction of
lease car charges from staff.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group is liable for under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

8.2 As Lessor
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not act as a lessor.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to receive under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

Note 6-8
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant & Information
Machinery Technology
£000
£000
150
859
0
573
150
1,432

2016-17
Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2016
Additions Purchased
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017
Depreciation at 1 April 2016
Charged During the Year
Depreciation at 31 March 2017

Furniture &
Fittings
£000
203
0
203

Total
£000
1,212
573
1,785

50
50
100

262
286
548

117
68
185

429
404
833

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

50

884

17

952

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

50
50

884
884

18
18

952
952

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2017

50
50

884
884

18
18

952
952

Property, plant and equipment is a sub-classification of the total non-current assets recorded on the Statement of Financial Position, and
are, land, buildings, plant and machinery, information technology and furniture and fittings.

9.1 Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(Years)
3
3
3

Plant & Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

Maximum Life
(Years)
3
3
3

This note records the range of remaining useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment employed by the Clinical Commissioning
Group.

10. Intangible non-current assets
Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
0
112
112

Total
£'000
0
112
112

0
0
0

0
0
0

Net Book Value at 31 March 2017

112

112

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2017

112
112

112
112

Minimum
Life (years)
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
3

2016-17
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016
Additions purchased
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2017
Amortisation 1 April 2016
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2017

10.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased

Intangible non-current assets are defined as brand value or some other right, which although invisible is likely to derive financial benefit for
its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Note 9-10
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11. Inventories
Balance at 1 April 2016
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2017

Other
£000
1,106
3,183
(3,030)
1,259

Total
£000
1,106
3,183
(3,030)
1,259

Balance at 1 April 2015
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2016

Other
£000
715
3,175
(2,784)
1,106

Total
£000
715
3,175
(2,784)
1,106

The Inventories held by the Clinical Commissioning Group relate to the proportion of the items held on its behalf by one Pooled Budget.

The total value of inventories corresponds with the amount shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position. Finished processed goods is the
value of stocks after completion of manufacture or processing and where the goods concerned are to be sold or consumed in a future accounting period.
This note does not include the provision of health care services under partially completed contracts; or assets in the course of construction.

12. Trade and Other Receivables
Current

Non-current

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

4,246
2,321
2,520
1,619
843
56
228
11,833
11,833

1,042
2,276
7
1,177
1,024
101
158
5,785
5,785

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income
VAT
Total
Total Current and Non-current
Included in NHS receivables are pre-paid pension contributions

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them
is considered necessary. The level of trade with non-NHS organisations is immaterial and is covered by contractual terms, therefore no credit scoring of
them is considered necessary.
This note analyses the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

12.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired
31 March 2017
£000
487
525
228
1,240

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March 2016
£000
118
88
2
208

This note analyses the length of time beyond their due date the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position
date have been outstanding.

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of:
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows
Patients' money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

Notes 11-13

31 March 2017
£000
16
1
17

31 March 2016
£000
13
3
16

1
16
17
0
17

1
15
16
0
16

0

0
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14. Trade and Other Payables
Current
31 March 2017
31 March 2016
£000
£000
NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total

(2,486)
(5,206)
(5,057)
0
(33,369)
(181)
(142)
(8,385)
(54,826)

(4,923)
(3,125)
(4,775)
(7)
(31,250)
(151)
(136)
(600)
(44,965)

Total Current and Non-current

(54,826)

(44,965)

Non-current
31 March 2017
31 March 2016
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Included above are liabilities, due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early
retirement over 5 years.

0

0

Other payables include outstanding pension contributions. The increase in outstanding pension
contributions is due to the Clinical Commissioning group taking on the devolved primary care cocommissioning role from NHS England.

1,048

216

125

106

7,156

0

Other payables also includes accruals for invoices registered on the finance ledger, but not approved.
Other payables also includes primary care accruals, which is due to the Clinical Commissioning group
taking on the devolved primary care co-commissioning role from NHS England. Last year primary care
accruals were shown in Non-NHS and other WGA accruals (£2,743k).
This note analyses the amounts owed by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

15. Provisions
Current
31 March 2017
£000
(2,198)
0

Non Current
31 March 2017
£000
(355)
(393)

Current
31 March 2016
£000
(2,749)
(0)

Non-current
31 March 2016
£000
(390)
(357)

Total

(2,198)

(748)

(2,749)

(747)

Total Current and Non-current

(2,946)

Continuing care
Other

(3,494)

Comprising:

Balance at 1 April 2016
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2017
Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five Years
Balance at 31 March 2017

Continuing Care
£000
(3,137)
(2,532)
145
2,935
(71)
107
(2,553)

Other
£000
(357)
(27)
0
0
(31)
22
(393)

Total
£000
(3,494)
(2,559)
145
2,935
(102)
129
(2,946)

(2,198)
(355)
(2,553)

0
(393)
(393)

(2,198)
(748)
(2,946)

Amount Included in the Provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
£000
0
0

As at 31 March 2017
As at 31 March 2016

Finance costs on the Statement of Cash Flows refers to the change in discount rate, shown above.
The balance of the Continuing Care provision is reversed out of the Ledger in March and shows here as 'Reversed unused' and then the new
provision is created and this is shown as 'Arising during the year'. This approach is taken because the provision is calculated case by case during
March.

Note 14-15
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15. Provisions continued
Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty:
The provisions shown under the heading 'Other' relate to dilapidation costs associated with leases for Vespasian House, and the future costs are uncertain.
A provision has been made against applications for continuing healthcare support where a panel has not yet met to determine whether the application is
approved. The provision is calculated on a named basis for the period that continuing healthcare may be eligible, at the probability rate of the application being
awarded, details in table below.
2016-17
Provision
arising during
the year
£
1,911,266
620,922
2,532,188

Retro cases
Appeal cases

Probability
%
58%
17%

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
This note analyses the amounts recorded as provisions by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

16. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Continuing care
Net Value of Contingent Liabilities

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

4,722
4,722

9,508
9,508

There are no contingent Assets
The contingent liability above relates to retrospective continuing care claims, and is directly linked with the continuing care provision included in the Provisions
Note. An estimation has been made of the value based upon the amounts claimed. The uncertainties relate to the eligibility of the claims. Whilst possible, it has
been deemed unlikely that these amounts will be reimbursed. It is not practicable to provide an estimate of the financial effect.
This contingent liability is for the remainder of the risk for those applications not included as a provision, within the Provisions Note to these accounts. The
calculation for contingent liability is shown below.
2016-17
Contingent
Liability
Probability
£
%
Retro cases
1,384,020
42%
Appeal cases
3,338,035
83%
4,722,055
The purpose of this note is to disclose material contingent liabilities or assets, if there is more than a remote possibility that there will be a transfer of ‘economic
benefit’ as a result of events that existed before the Statement of Financial Position date.

17. Commitments
17.1 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts or other service concession arrangements),
for information management and technology equipment and support. The payments to which the Clinical Commissioning Group are committed are as follows:31 March 2017
£000
46
32
0
78

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five year
Later than five years
Total

31 March 2016
£000
0
0
0
0

This note discloses undertakings that have been committed at a future date.

18. Financial Instruments
18.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body
faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated
by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal
auditors.
Only where the Clinical Commissioning Group is exposed to material risk should the appropriate IFRS 7 disclosures be made. The headings in IFRS 7 should be
used to the extent that they are relevant.

Note 15-18.1
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18.1.1 Currency Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical
Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
18.1.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed
by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged
at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
18.1.3 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the Clinical
Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
18.1.4 Liquidity Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within resource allocations agreed with NHS England, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover
expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises, unrelated to its performance against resource limits. The Clinical
Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
18.2 Financial Assets

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

Loans and
receivables
£000
6,766
1,675
17
8,458

Total
£000
6,766
1,675
17
8,458

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2016

1,049
1,278
16
2,343

1,049
1,278
16
2,343

18.3 Financial Liabilities

Other

Total

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Total at 31 March 2017

£000
(7,692)
(46,810)
(54,502)

£000
(7,692)
(46,810)
(54,502)

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Total at 31 March 2016

(8,047)
(36,632)
(44,679)

(8,047)
(36,632)
(44,679)

Due to the short-term nature of these transactions, the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities approximate the
carrying amounts at the balance sheet date.
Financial instruments are a broad range of assets and liabilities that arise from contracts and result in a financial asset
being created in one entity and a financial liability in another. This note discloses the interest rate risks arising from the
Clinical Commissioning Group's financial assets and liabilities, which largely comprise items due after more than one year,
such as long-term debtors and creditors, and provisions made under contract.

19. Operating Segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one operating segment, that of commissioning healthcare services for the
population of Dorset.
An operating segment is a component of an entity:
* that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;
* whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and
* for which discrete financial information is available.
Note 18.1.1-19
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20. Pooled Budget
There are 12 schemes within the pan Dorset Better Care Fund for 2016/17 and these have been reviewed to identify
the substance of each scheme for accounting purposes. None of the schemes have been identified as joint
arrangements within the IFRS 11 definition.
Within the Better Care Fund, for 2016/17 the Community Equipment scheme is provided as a pan Dorset service,
bringing together the previous two arrangements for the Dorset County Council areas and Bournemouth Borough
Council/Borough of Poole areas respectively. Bournemouth Borough Council is lead commissioner for the pan
Dorset service and there is a risk share agreement covering the contributors to the scheme, requiring a pooled

Memorandum Account for the pooled budget is reproduced below.
2016-17
£000

2015-16
£000

Revenue
Bournemouth Borough Council
Borough of Poole
Dorset County Council
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Total contributions to revenue

684
637
1,375
3,031
1,600
346
185
175
8,033

483
413
1,439
2,752
1,600
346
185
175
7,393

Expenditure
Integrated Community Equipment Service

8,033

7,393

0

0

2016-17
£000
(1)
0
(1)

2015-16
£000
(139)
0
(139)

2,752
247
32
3,031

2,751
(139)
32
2,644

Under/ (over) spend

Additional information
Trade Receivables
Cash
Total receivables balance as at 31 March
Partner contribution
Allocation of over/underspend
Administration contribution
Total Clinical Commissioning Group's contribution to income for the pool

A pooled budget is the term used to describe a project financed by several mutually interested organisations. By
definition, pooled funds are flexible, intended to meet local needs and priorities. A pooled budget, such as the
Integrated Community Equipment Service, is not an entity in its own right.

Note 20
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21. Related Party Transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England (including commissioning support units);
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local
government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Dorset County Council, Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole Council Local
Authorities in respect of Better Care Fund arrangements.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has received no revenue or capital payments from charitable funds.
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
Payments to
Related Party
£000

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

1

Dr Forbes Watson Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee
Remuneration Committee, CCG Chair, Clinical Commissioning Committee
Chair. Principal, GP Practice (PMS) in Lyme Regis, Contract with VH
Doctors Ltd for medical care at Lyme Regis Medical Centre. Spouse
clinical employee for Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust.
Honorary Medical Advisor and Chairman of RNLI Lyme Regis. Co-opted
member of Dorset County Council for Health and Wellbeing Board
purposes. Contract holder for Lyme Regis Primary Dental Services.
Member of Jurassic Coast Healthcare GP federation. Transactions
disclosed for Lyme Bay Medical Centre.

2,290.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2

Dr Jenny Bubb Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Locality Chair for Mid Dorset. Partner, Cerne Abbas GP Surgery. Coopted member of Dorset County Council for Health and Wellbeing Board
purposes. Husband is a partner GP at Puddletown Surgery. Cerne Abbas
Surgery is a member of the Mid Dorset Primary Healthcare Federation.
Transactions disclosed for Cerne Abbas Surgery.

7,586.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3

Dr Lionel Cartwright Clinical Commissioning Committee, Clinical Delivery
Group Lead. GP Partner and property owner, Harvey Practice. Wife is a
nurse practitioner at Lilliput surgery. Co-opted member of Wessex LMC.
Chairman of Castleman Healthcare Limited (federation of GP practices).
Daughter is on the Wessex A&E specialist training programme.
Transactions disclosed for Castleman Healthcare Limited

52.0

0.0

68.0

0.0

4

Dr Colin Davidson Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Locality Chair for East Dorset. Senior Partner, The Cranborne Practice.
The Cranborne Practice is a shareholder of Castleman Healthcare.
Director - Dorset Diagnostics Ltd. Wife is a Director of Dorset Diagnostics
Ltd. Wife is a GP and equity partner at Eagle House Surgery.
Transactions disclosed for The Cranborne Practice.

10,018.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5

Dr Nick Evans Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Locality Chair for Poole Bay GP Principal at Wessex Road Surgery. Out
of Hours clinical sessions with South Western Ambulance NHS Foundation
Trust, approximately three sessions per month. Transactions disclosed for
Wessex Road Surgery.

4,662.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

6

Tim Goodson Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Joint
Primary Care Committee, Chief Officer. HFMA Member. Vice Chair of
HFMA South West Executive Branch. Fellow member of the Association of
chartered Certified Accountants. Co-opted member of Dorset County
Council for Health and Wellbeing Board purposes. Partner works for
Bournemouth Borough Council. Transactions disclosed for HFMA South
West Branch.

2.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

7

Dr Tom Knight Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Joint
Primary Care Commissioning Committee, Locilaity Chair for North
Bournemouth. GP Partner, Northbourne Surgery. Northbourne Surgery is
a member of Compass Healthcare federation. FTSE 100 index linked
savings. (Left 30/9/16) Transactions disclosed for Northbourne Surgery.

3,110.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

8

Mary Monnington Governing Body, Audit & Quality Committee, Registered
Nurse Member, Part year only. Council member [UKCCG] United Kingdom
Council of Caldicott Guardians. Panel Member Professional Performance
Committees. Nursing and Midwifery Council [NMC]. Nurse Member
Wiltshire CCG. Husband JET Monnington, Senior Solicitor Moore Blatch
Resolve LLP Southampton. Role finished with the Clinical Commissioning
Group 30/6/16. Transactions disclosed for NHS Wiltshire CCG.

0.0

42.0

0.0

42.0

Note 21-22
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21. Related Party Transactions
9

Dr Mufeed Ni'man Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Locality Chair for East Bournemouth. GP at Providence Surgery, Crescent
Surgery and Boscombe & Springbourne Health Centre Walk in Service.
GP with Special Interests: orthopaedic - Dorset Healthcare University NHS
Foundation Trust. GP with Special Interests: Diabetes - Poole Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust, GP shared care. Trainer and appraiser for the
Deanery. AFC Bournemouth Club Doctor. Teaching at the Chiropractor
College occasionally. Medical Director for New Wave Integrated Centre.
Both surgeries are members of the Healthstones Federation.
Memberships:- Fellow Royal College of General Practitioners. Members of
family employed by own organisation. Director of South Coast Medical
Group (used to be called Centrepoint) - dormant company. Director of
Connection4Health. Director of Ni'Man Healthcare Services Ltd.
Transactions disclosed for Crescent Surgery Boscombe

1,624.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

10 Dr Mufeed Ni'man Details as shown above. Transactions disclosed for
Providence Surgery.

15,016.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

11 Dr Mufeed Ni'man Details as shown above. Transactions disclosed for
Niman Healthcare Services Limited.

292.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

12 Jacqeline Swift Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee.
Joint Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
Remuneration Committee Chair. Mental Health Act Hospital Manager,
Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust. Chair of Health
Education Wessex (finished Summer 2016). Transactions disclosed for
Health Education Wessex.

0.0

1.0

0.0

0.0

13 Dr George Thomson Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Secondary Care Consultant Member. Executive Medical Director of the
Trust Board of Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust which provides a
small number of non contracted services to the population of Dorset on an
ad-hoc basis. Transactions disclosed for Northern Devon Healthcare NHS
Trust.

124.0

0.0

7.0

0.0

14 Dr Stephen Tomkins Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Locality Chair for Christchurch. GP The Grove Surgery. GP trainer. 5%
profit share (non-equity) in Christchurch Fairmile Village LLP, a limited
liability partnership concerned with a proposed nursing home in
Christchurch (other stakeholders include Quantum and Royal
Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospital Foundation Trust). Wife is a
Practice Manager at The Grove Surgery, Christchurch. Clinical
Governance Lead for Chorus Care, branch of Quantum. Board member of
Platinum Skies Living Limited. (Finished in Clinical Commissioning Group
role 28 February 2017) Transactions disclosed for The Grove Surgery.

5,704.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

15 Dr Stephen Tomkins Details as shown above. Transactions disclosed for
Christchurch Fairmile Village LLP.

15.0

0.0

3.0

0.0

16 Dr Christian Verrinder Clinical Commissioning Committee, Clinical
Delivery Group Lead. GP Partner, Wellbridge Practice, Wool Surgery. GP
with Special Interests - MSK at Dorset Healthcare University NHS
Foundation Trust. Transactions disclosed for The Wellbridge Practice.

9,377.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

17 Dr Craig Wakeham Clinical Commissioning Committee, Chief Clinical
Information Officer. Senior Partner, Cerne Abbas Surgery (PMS
dispensing practice). Dorset LMC. Transactions disclosed for Cerne
Abbas Surgery.

7,586.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

67,458.0

43.0

78.0

42.0

The Clinical Commissioning Group has detailed in this note all declarations of interest for Governing Body Members, however only related party transactions
have been disclosed where they meet the criteria of having (i) control or joint control over the reporting entity, (ii) have significant influence over the reporting
entity or (iii) are a member of the key management personnel.

22. Events after the end of the Reporting Period
The clinical commissioning group has no Events after the end of the Reporting Period.
This note discloses the financial consequences of events (both favourable or unfavourable) that occur between the Statement of Financial Position date and the
date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board, if appropriate. Two types of events can be identified:
* those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events); and
* those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events).

Note 21-22
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23. Financial Performance Targets
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
Target

2016-17
Performance

£’000
(17,698)
685
1,161,142

£’000
(28,805)
685
1,132,337

Yes
Yes
Yes

National
Duty
Health
Service Act
Section

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

Duty
Achieved?

223J(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

16,833

16,311

Yes

The Expenditure not to exceed income target was set at £17,698k surplus for 2016/17, but in addition the Clinical Commissioning Group was
directed by NHS England to achieve a 1% non-recurrent system risk reserve of £11,107, to be released as additional surplus as at 31 March 2017.
The Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions was underspent by £522k due to planned local
savings on Clinical Commissioning Group administrative costs.
2015-16
National
Duty
Duty
Target
Performance
Health
Achieved?
Service Act
Section
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

223J(2)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J(1)

£’000
(15,698)
410
1,028,843

£’000
(17,698)
410
1,011,145

Yes
Yes
Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

17,372

16,805

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and,
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as
received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
The purpose of this note is to disclose the Financial Performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group
breaches, or plans to breach, one of the statutory financial provisions, even if this is agreed with NHS England (e.g. setting a deficit budget) local
auditors are under a duty to make a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 28 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

24. Other
The Clinical Commissioning Group has considered the following areas and has no details to disclose under these headings:• The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
• Income Generation Activities
• Investment Revenue
• Other Gains and Losses
• Net Gain (Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
• Impairments & Reversals
• Investment Property

• Other Financial Assets
• Other Current Assets
• Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
• Analysis of impairments and reversals
• Other Financial liabilities
• Other Liabilities
• Borrowings

Note 23-24

• PFI & LIFT Contracts
• NHS LIFT Investments
• Finance Lease Obligations
• Finance lease receivables
• Third Party Assets
• Impact of IFRS Treatment
• Analysis of Charitable Reserves
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS
Accruals

An accounting concept. In addition to payments and receipts of cash, adjustment is made for outstanding payments,
debts to be collected and inventory. This means that the accounts show all of the income and expenditure that related
to the financial year.

Assets

An item that has a value in the future. For example, a debtor (someone who owes money) is an asset, as they will in
future pay. A building is an asset, because it houses activity that will provide a future income stream.

Assurance

Process through which accurate and current information is provided to stakeholders about the efficiency and
effectiveness of policies and operations, and the status of compliance with statutory obligations.

Audit

The process of validation of the accuracy, completeness and adequacy of disclosure of financial records.

Capital

Land, buildings, equipment and other non-current assets owned by the Clinical Commissioning Group, the cost of
which exceeds £5,000 and has an expected life of more than one year.

Cash limit

A limit set by the NHS England which restricts the amount of cash drawings that the Clinical Commissioning Group can
make in the financial year. There is a combined cash limit for both revenue and capital.

Co-Commissioning

Co-commissioning refers to the process whereby the Clinical Commissioning Group can directly commission primary
medical services and performance manage practices but not individuals. This role was transferred from NHS England
on the 1 April 2016.

Commissioning

Purchase of healthcare from external service providers (NHS, other public sector, private and voluntary) to meet the
needs of the population.

Current Assets

Trade receivables, inventories, cash or similar, whose value is, or can be converted into, cash within the next twelve
months.

Deep dive

A technique to rapidly immerse a group or team into a situation for problem solving or idea creation. It is often used for
brainstorming product or process development.

Governance

The framework of rules and practices by which a board of directors ensures accountability, fairness, and transparency
in relationships with its stakeholders. Corporate governance should underpin all that an organisation does. In the NHS,
this means it must encompass clinical, financial and organisational aspects.

Gross Operating Costs

This is the total revenue expenditure, including accruals and provisions, incurred in the course of performing all
aspects of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s functions during the year.

Intangible Assets

Brand value or some other right (for example, a software licence), which although invisible is likely to derive financial
benefit for its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Lay Member

A person who has specialised or professional knowledge of a subject.

Locality

In general meaning a community in which people live. Specifically to the Clinical Commissioning Group this refers to
the 13 different geographical areas in Dorset for which we commission services.

Locality Cluster

This refers to the 3 clusters made up of the 13 geographical localities in Dorset.

Miscellaneous Revenue

Income that relates directly to the operating activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group. This excludes cash from
NHS England, which is credited to the general fund.

NHS Constitution

The constitution brings together in one place details of what staff, patients and the public can expect from the NHS.

Non-Current Assets

Land, buildings, equipment and other long term assets that are expected to have a life of more than one year.

Procurement

The act of obtaining or buying goods and services. The process includes preparation and processing of a demand as
well as the end receipt and approval of payment.

Quality Premium

Is intended to reward Clinical Commissioning Groups for improvements in the quality of the services that they
commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.

Remuneration

Reward for employment in the form of pay, salary, or wage, including allowances, benefits (such as company car,
medical plan, pension plan), bonuses, cash incentives, and monetary value of the noncash incentives.

Resource limit

Expenditure limits are determined for each NHS organisation by NHS England for both revenue and capital, which limit
the amount that may be expended on revenue purchases, as assessed on an accruals basis (that is, after adjusting for
receivables and payables).

Transformation

A process of profound and radical change that orients an organisation in a new direction and takes it to an entirely
different level of effectiveness.

Safeguarding

Protecting from harm or damage with an appropriate measure.

Stakeholders

A person, group or organisation that has interest or concern in an organisation.

Sustainability

An approach that creates long-term strategy aimed toward the natural environment and taking into consideration every
dimension of how a business operates in the social, cultural, and economic environment.

WGA

Whole of Government Accounting (WGA) are organisations such as Local Authorities, Scottish and Welsh NHS
bodies, NHS Property Services and the NHS Litigation Authority etc.
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How to Contact Us
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Vespasian House, Barrack Road
Dorchester DT1 1TG
Telephone: 01202 541946
Email: feedback@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Our websites: www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk and
www.dorsetsvision.nhs.uk/
Twitter: @DorsetCCG
Facebook: www.facebook.com/NHSDorsetCCG

If you would like this document in a different format or language please email
communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk or call 01202 541946
Jeżeli chciał byś ta informacje w języku Polskim proszę aby zadzwonić pod podany numer telefoniczny
01202541946. Albo wyślij e-mail na communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

01202 541946
communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

ই

ইই

01202 541946

communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Si quiere este documento en un formato o idioma diferente por favor mande un e-mail a
communications@dorset.nhs.uk o llame al 01202 541946

Se você gostaria deste documento em um formato ou linguagem diferente por favor email
communications@dorset.nhs.uk ou chamar 01202 541946

